Euskaltel’s mission is aimed at “Providing a full response to the communication
needs of people and companies helping them to attain greater productivity by
providing information management and communication tools, thus contributing to the
social and economic development of our Community”.
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2013 MILESTONES
PROFIT OF

EBITDA OF

50.1

155.1

4.1% OVER
PREVIOUS YEAR

GROWTH OF 15.1%

MILLION
EUROS

MILLION
EUROS

OPERATING REVENUE

329.1

EUSKALTEL CUT ITS DEBT

MILLION
EUROS

MILLION
EUROS

PERFORMING SIGNIFICANTLY
BETTER THAN THE AVERAGE
OF THE SECTOR

POSITIVE FREE CASH FLOW OF

86.1

MILLION
EUROS

86.1

ITS DEBT RATIO IS
2.1 TIMES THE EBITDA

WE PROVIDE OVER

1.2

MILLION
SERVICES

400,000

TO
BASQUE CUSTOMERS EVERY DAY

THE LEADING
ALTERNATIVE
OPERATOR

IN SPAIN

THE LEADER IN THE
BASQUE COUNTRY
BY MARKET SHARE

EUSKALTEL HAS THE HIGHEST
PENETRATION IN THE

BUSINESS
SEGMENT
AMONG EUROPEAN CABLE
OPERATORS

INCREASE IN THE
CONTRACTING OF

FIXED LINES AND
MOBILE TELEPHONE,
BROADBAND AND
DIGITAL TV
PRODUCTS AND SERVICES

THE BASQUE COUNTRY IS THE
AUTONOMOUS REGION WITH THE
HIGHEST CONCENTRATION OF

HIGH-SPEED
BROADBAND
IN SPAIN
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OPERATING REVENUE
(in thousands of euros)

€329,148
Business Customer Revenue

€100,860

Residential Customer Revenue

€228,288

MOBILE TELEPHONE LINES

TELEPHONE FIXED LINES

2011

391.090

2011

2012

384.863

2012

2013

385.608

2013

303.863
344.079
374.592

DIGITAL TELEVISION PRODUCTS
Pay TV products
2011

158.284
5o.327

2012

160.263
51.561

2013

169.146
53.194

INTERNET BROADBAND LINES

2011
2012
2013
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248.670
249.765
259.987
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“Euskaltel has become a driver of the Basque Project
that has proven to be successful and it enjoys a sound
market and financial-economic position”.
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LETTER FROM THE CHAIRMAN
Alberto García Erauzkin

January 2013 saw the 15th anniversary of Euskaltel’s launch
on the market. Looking back, it is no exaggeration to claim
that Euskaltel has become a driver of the Basque Project
over that time that has proven to be successful and it enjoys
a sound market and financial-economic position.
Furthermore, in the fifteen years that the project has been
up and running from 1998 to 2013, Euskaltel has continued
to strengthen its position on the market. During its first
decade of existence, that was a time of economic prosperity
(1998-2007), Euskaltel managed to position itself as the
leader on the Basque market. The total revenue from the
market shrank by 25% during the six following years of the
crisis (2008-2013). Despite that, Euskaltel has managed to
keep its 2013 revenue at a similar level as in 2007, thanks
to an increase in the subscriber services provided to the
customers, an increase that has offset the drop in prices and
consumption. Furthermore, Euskaltel has steadily improved
its net economic results over that six-year period.
In fact, Euskaltel, which competes with the main world
operators, is the leader in the Basque Country in terms
of market share in three out of its four value earning
businesses (fixed lines telephones, broadband and pay TV),
and in third place (second in the residential segment) in the
others (mobile telephones). Covering 84% of the territory
with the fibre optic network and an annual 9% return on
investment in R&D&i, Euskaltel provides 2,500 direct and
indirect jobs in the Basque Country, has contributed nearly
800 million euros to the Basque Treasury in terms of taxes
over the years, has invested nearly 1,900 million euros, made
purchases to the tune of over 2,400 million euros from 600

Basque companies, and has sponsored over 200 sport,
social and cultural initiatives. Euskaltel is today a company
that serves nearly 400,000 Basque customers, to whom
it provides 1.2 million services a day, with the following
economic parameters for 2013: customer revenue of 321
million euros, an EBITDA of 155 million euros, investment
of 41 million euros (which will be 50 million in 2014), a net
profit of 50 million euros, and a debt ratio of 2.1 times the
EBITDA (which indicates financial soundness and additional
leverage capacity).
At the end of 2012, Euskaltel underwent a significant
shareholder restructuring, but which can be summarised as
a new configuration where all the partners have opted for
the strong continuity of the Euskaltel project.
Euskaltel’s future challenge involves continuing to grow
and consolidating its competitive position. Therefore, in
an environment of quickly changing technologies and
habits, Euskaltel needs to consolidate its technological
competitiveness and its adaptation speed to the market, by
entering into technology alliances with suppliers, local and
international leaders, which enable this goal to be met.
In that context, and with a sector immersed in “consolidation
trends”, Euskaltel aspires to play an active role within the
movements that occur in the sector.
The future lies there, and Euskaltel seeks to continue playing
a leadership role while seeking the best for its stakeholders:
its partners, its customers, its human team and Basque
society overall.

Alberto García Erauzkin
Chairman of Euskaltel
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“Euskaltel is the leading operator, an outstanding
brand in the Basque Country and its value continues to
grow on the market”
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LETTER FROM THE GENERAL MANAGER
Fernando Ojeda
The 2013 financial year consolidated Euskaltel as the
leader of the Telecommunications sector in the Basque
Country. Despite the complexity of the economic climate,
of the systematic drop in revenue affecting the sector and
of the price pressure from its major competitors, the value
of Euskaltel continues to grow on the market and lays the
foundations for the future.
Euskaltel ended 2013 with profits of 50.1 million euros, up
4.1% on the previous year, and an EBITDA of 155.1 million
euros, which meant a 15.1% increase on the previous year,
compared to the wide-spread downturn of around 9%
posted by the other major operators. And at the same time,
we have slashed the debt by 86.1 million euros, resulting
in a debt ratio of 2.1 times the EBITDA, which reflects the
financial strength of the company.
And it has been done by basing its operations on
three fundamental pillars that have made Euskaltel a
unique brand on the market. On one hand, excellence
in management: a way of operating and working that
places the customer at the centre of our rationale as a
telecommunications operator. Excellence both in our
relationship with the customers and in the quality of the
range of services and products that we launch on the
market. The Euskaltel products and services are based on
the convergence of fixed lines, mobile, ultrafast broadband
telecommunications and High Definition Digital Television
products. Precisely convergence is the aspect that has been
the feature that has made Euskaltel stand out from its
competitors throughout its history.
On the other hand, I would like to stress this company’s

commitment to its environment. Euskaltel firmly assumes
the responsibility that any company must have with its
market as an essential part of its nature. Deep-rootedness
in society and with our people generating wealth and
wellbeing for the territory, investing into innovation and
technology evolution. At the same time, Euskaltel prioritises
strategic alliances with international leading companies in
the sector that enable us it to have cutting-edge technology
and thus be able to compete with worldwide competitors.
These alliances also result in wealth, economic development
and generate jobs for this society.
Euskaltel is the leading operator an exemplary brand in
the Basque Country and its value continues to grow on
the market. A strong, sound brand with a great potential
for growth, Euskaltel is the leading operator in the fixed
telecommunications field – fast-speed broadband,
HD Digital Television and fixed lines telephones-, and
has experienced the greatest growth in the mobile
telecommunications segment in Basque households,
turning us into the second mobile telephone operator in
terms of high value customers, compared to our major
multinational competitors.
We ended 2013 with excellent results, consequence of the
excellent work of the people that make up the Euskaltel
team, and with our sights set on the new financial year for
which we are preparing the new commercial actions that
will allow us to continue consolidating our leadership on
the market and increasing the value of the company in
2014.

Fernando Ojeda
General Manager of Euskaltel
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2013 FINANCIAL YEAR

2013 financial year: we met our challenges in a convergent market
Even though we are beginning to see indicators pointing towards better socio-economic perspectives
in our environment, 2013 was a year noted, in general, for following the trend of recent years and
specifically because the emphasis has been on cost cutting in all sectors and, in particular, in the one in
which Euskaltel, S.A. operates, together with leading multinational competitors, the telecommunications
sector. In addition and specifically, 2013 was noted for a phenomenon of pressure on prices by the
leading operators, driven by the convergent products.
In this convergent world, Euskaltel has been able to compete and succeed in addressing the challenge
set, as it has an exceptional technological infrastructure, suitably prepared for convergence for many
years and also exceptionally aware of its potential, of the market, the products and its customers. Even
though it has not escaped the effect of the price erosion on the market, Euskaltel’s economic variables
performed better than the comparatives ones in its surroundings and sector, thanks to its customers and
its proven capacity to generate the savings that the customers wish to see in their bills.
Along with convergence and efficiency, the Broadband market has also shifted towards increasing the
Internet capacities towards ultra-fast speeds, partly as the result of the simultaneous use of diverse
and different devices that are increasingly more sophisticated. As regards mobile telephones, customer
demand has also evolved towards products where the reduced rates are justified by the lack of subsidized
terminals, which has driven the sale of free terminals, even in financed models.
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Economic Figures
2011

2012

2013

355,148
350,520
260,380
60,964
130,575
(94,477)**
78,728

342,800
338,542
412,090
(151,710) *
134,700
48,104
104,521

334,891
329,148
325,962
86,128
155,132
50,092
81,832

(in thousands of euros)

Total revenue
Operating revenue
Net Financial Debt
Operating Cash Flow
EBITDA
Operating Result
Total Taxes Paid

* The negative cash flow in the 2012 financial year included the effect of payment in the ruling of the TSJPV.
**The loss of -94,477 euros in the 2011 financial year includes the extraordinary result arising from the ruling of the TSJPV (High Court of Justice of the
Basque Country), after taxes.

Business Figures
2011

2012

2013

Fixed lines with own network

391,090

384,863

385,608

Internet Broadband Lines

248,670

249,765

259,987

Digital TV Products

158,284

160,263

169,146

50,327

51,561

53,194

303,863

344,079

374,592

550

548

546

Pay TV
Mobile telephone lines
Employees (group)

2013 Annual Report

13

Euskaltel business performance in 2013
Customers and Products
With regard to landline telecommunications, Euskaltel Direct
Access lines at 2013 year end stood at 385,608, which meant,
on one hand, growth of 0.2% on a market that steadily dropped
over the last five years (-1.5% in 2013) and, on the other hand,
improved product portfolios, with the Direct Access lines
accounting for 98.5% of the total landlines, compared to 98%
at the end of the previous year. As far as the broadband lines
contracted with Euskaltel at the end of 2013 was concerned,
they stood at 259,987, which meant year-on-year growth of
4.1%. Thirdly, with regard to Euskaltel Digital Television, as
of 31 December 2013, it posted a balance of 62,274 value
products, with a growth of 13% and the direct access customer
penetration remained at over 40%.
Therefore, Euskaltel continues to be the leading operator by
market share in landline telecommunications customers in
the Basque Country, with penetration levels in the different
businesses that are clearly higher than the first alternative
operator with its own network in Spain as a whole. Thus, in
landline telecommunications, Euskaltel co-leads the market
with a 47% market share in the Basque Country, where
Euskaltel has its own netwok, and in broadband, Euskaltel is
the leader on the Basque market with 43% of market share
and in Digital Television, Euskaltel leads the market with a
share of nearly 60%.
On the other hand, with regard to mobile telephones,
Euskaltel, ended 2013 with 362,292 active mobile telephone
lines, with a net increase of 32% in value customers (contract
customers), in a year where, yet again, and in terms of Spain
as a whole, the established operators have continued to
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Euskaltel serves around 400,000 Basque
customers, to whom it provides 1.2
million services every day.
reduce the number of active lines in favour of the MVNOs.
Euskaltel, however, has managed to make a significant
advance increasing its market share by over 3 percentage
point and reaching 18% of the contract lines.
Revenue, results and cash flow
In 2013, the revenue market, again, continued to drop.
With respect to the previous year, it has evolved quarter on
quarter in the segments in which Euskaltel compete, with
the following variations year-on-year by quarters: -4.3% in
the first quarter,-6.3% in the second quarter and -9.2% in the
third quarter. However, Euskaltel posted operating revenue
of 324 million euros, which is a variation of only -2.8%. In
addition, Euskaltel maintained, as another of the differential
aspects in relation to other alternative operators, its high
penetration in the business segment, with its revenue
accounting for 31.3% of its total revenue.
As regards the EBITDA, Euskaltel ended 2013 with an
EBITDA of 155.1 million euros, 15,1% higher than the one
for 2012, while the other main operators posted drops
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47%
market share in Fixed Lines.

60%
market share in Digital Television.

43%
market share in Broadband.

18%

market share in Mobile.
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overall compared to previous years, even of two digits, that
means an annual decrease for the overall market of nearly
10%. This result is, particularly, due to the efficiency savings
by the company in order to offset the revenue trend due to
the market pressure.
Euskaltel ended 2013 with a positive free cash flow of 86.1
million euros, fully from its operation, in a climate where,
practically, all the operators of the sector saw their cash
flow evolve in the same negative way as their EBITDA.
Efficiency and advanced technological solutions
Euskaltel has tackled the 2013 challenges with a series of
specific and concrete measures. On the one hand, special
mention must be made to the launch of its OSOA combined
product, to which 50,000 households (out of the 220,000
with Euskaltel Fibre Internet) have signed up to in 11
months. This is a product that fosters convergence and
flexible bundles between the different Euskaltel products
(Broadband, Television, Mobile, Fixed Lines, etc.), so that our
customers can enjoy the best Internet prices. On the other
hand, Euskaltel has increased the Broadband capacities
for its customers, by optimising the technology resources
and showing that speed is not a limitation in the fibre
optic network already deployed by Euskaltel. Furthermore,
the very positive response by the customers regarding the
possibility to finance the purchase of mobile terminals in
monthly payments has lead to a significant increase of sales
for this concept and has complemented the other Mobile
Telephone products, both the SIMPLE (SIM only) tariffs and
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the bundling with the Broadband.
As part of the search for efficiencies to deliver competitive
services to customers, Euskaltel is also transforming its
marketing and communication processes with its customers,
driving online channels, facilitating communication with
the customer and fostering the new ways of being in touch
offered by the new technologies.
As it strives for the best long-term technology solution for
its customers, Euskaltel has reached a new agreement to
share the data and telephone mobile network with Orange
who will become the wholesale provider of access services
for Euskaltel over the coming five years, from 1 January
2014 onwards.
Leadership
Euskaltel is in the seventh operator in Spain in terms of
Fixed Line revenue (resulting from being the fifth in Fixed
Lines, the sixth in Internet services and sixth in pay TV
subscribers) and in ninth place in mobile telephone revenue.
This means an overall eighth place in the total revenue by
operator ranking. The business trends in the Basque market
are comparable to the overall figures for Spain in terms of
revenue revolution both in Fixed Lines and mobiles, also
including broadband, that had been the driver of the sector
up until now.
At the end of 2013, Euskaltel is the second cable operator in
Spain, the sixth operator in customers with own Fixed Line
network, the seventh operator in the ranking of Fixed Line
revenue, the ninth operator of Spain by mobile telephone
revenue, sixth in Internet revenue, sixth in number of
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Euskaltel ended 2013 with a net
increase of 32% in valued-added
customers (contract customers) from
Mobile Telephones.

subscribers to pay television and the eighth operator of
Spain in total revenue. It is the broadband leader in the
Basque Country, with 43% market share, as well as in Digital
Television, where it has a market share of almost 60% and
shares the leadership in Fixed Lines where there is the own
Euskaltel network, with 47% of active lines. With regard
to contract mobile lines, it has a share of 18%, making it
the second operator of this type of mobile lines in the
households of the Basque Country.
It is, furthermore, the first alternative operator in Spain by
market share in Fixed Lines in its sphere of action, reaching
penetration levels in the different businesses clearly higher
to those of the first alternative operator in the rest of Spain.
In Fixed Line telephones, Euskaltel has a percentage close
to 40% of market share in the Basque Country, compared to
11% of the first alternative operator in the rest of Spain. With
regard to broadband, Euskaltel has a penetration of 43% in
the Basque Country, compared to 12.9% of similar operator
in the rest of Spain. And in Digital Television, Euskaltel has
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a percentage close to 60% of market share in the Basque
Country, compared to 22% of the first alternative operator
in the rest of Spain.
In addition, and despite the complexity of the economic
climate, Euskaltel has been able to meet its “fundamental
goals”: it has performed more favourably than the market in
revenue, it has seen a further improvement in the evolution
of the operating profitability (which has been negative in
the sector overall) thanks to the efficiency measures, and
it has generated a significant positive free cash flow in its
telecommunications business.
With regard to 2014, the projects underway and which have
proven and are proving to be successful, along with those
that are scheduled to begin in 2014, particularly regarding
Television, repositioning broadband speeds and the
migration of the mobile telephone access services retailer,
are expected to overcome the market uncertainties with
successful results.
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OUR PRODUCTS AND SERVICES

Euskaltel Products and Services
At Euskaltel, we believe that a way to fulfil our mission “To
provide a full response to the communication needs of people and help
to ensure greater productivity of the companies…”, is by defining
and launching new products and services as the result of
analysing the expectations of our customers performed with
the support of market studies and surveys.
The main product and service actions in 2013 have been
particularly focused on integrated products that have
enhanced the Euskaltel competitive advantage as a global
operator with its own advanced network:
Integrated products
We started the year by further consolidating the integrated
product strategy with ONA. The way of marketing
telecommunications has changed. It is no longer enough to
focus on marketing the DUO (Line + Internet) package with
new customers. There are other market demands and that
is also true of Euskaltel’s needs. ONA and its message “It is
good to have a great deal in common” were launched.
ONA provides us with the opportunity to offer highly
competitive Internet prices that are, also, based on a
tempting range of other products such as Mobile Phones
and TV.
This is all underpinned by the new values provided by
prices forever and flexibility in the shaping of the package.
We managed to secure 40,000 customers thanks to ONA.
Since then, the range has continued to improve and the
name has changed to OSOA. OSOA is the maximum Internet
speed, is unlimited mobile and is the best quality television.
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Campaign announcing increased Internet speed to all its
customers, based on its network capacity.

It has improved the offering, but keeps the ONA essence
and value. It continues to deliver savings to our customers,
continues to be flexible and the emphasis continues to be
on adding more products.
Ultrafast Broadband
In 2013, Euskaltel continued with its commitment
on innovating and bringing the latest Internet access
technologies to its customers, at the same time as ensuring
excellence in this service. Therefore, despite offering a
range substantially superior to that of its competitors, it has
yet again increased the speed to all its customers, based on
the capacity of its state-of-the-art fibre optic network.
With the launch of the 200 Megas Internet, Euskaltel is

2013 Annual Report

The Basque Country is the region with the highest concentration of high-speed
broadband in Spain. Ultrafast broadband coveraged in the Basque Country
reaches 91.6% of the population, compared to 59% in Spain.

Product integration is one of the Euskaltel hallmarks thanks to its fibre optic network.

2013 Annual Report

21

consolidating its position not only as the market but also
the technological leader and driver of technology progress
in the Basque Country.
Aware of the cornerstone that Internet is for Euskaltel,
continuing to innovate and improve technology has
become a strategic objective.
There are three speed offers: 10 Megas, 30 Megas and 120
Megas.
Despega 120M is the connection for those people
who go online from different devices and use Internet
intensively.
Despega 30M is the most appropriate for the largest
segment, where we compete in a strong position against
the ADSL based packages. We offer much higher speeds
and a much better quality.
It is not just enough to have an offer that is substantially
better than our competitors’, but we also have increased
the speed for our customers. In some cases, we have even
doubled the speed contracted by the customer.
For the business segment, we have launched the 200 Megas
option, high speed internet access.
Euskaltel is consolidating its positioning not only as the
market leader, but also as the technological one and also
the driving force for technological progress in the Basque
Country.
Mobile telephones
In 2013, Euskaltel brought in new tariffs and business
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Advertising campaign announcing Euskaltel 120 Megas.
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Advertising campaign on the Euskaltel website promoting mobile telephones.
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With regard to mobile lines, Euskaltel has recorded an unprecedented growth as
it became the second mobile telephone operator in terms of value customers in
Basque households.

models, updating their flat rates and launching the
unlimited tariffs.
It has also launched the new “Redondas” tariffs to meet
the requirements of the market segment with large Internet
needs in mobility but that do not have an intensive use of
voice calls.
The relentless evolution in mobile telephones requires
continuous production innovation, which means helping to
improve the day-to-day life of the user.
At Euskaltel, we are committed to renovate our prices to
increase the speed offered and to add the word “unlimited”
to the catalogue. And the “Redonda” rates were also
introduced. The “Redonda” rate was brought in to replace
the SIMple rate offering with a very important advantage:
0 cents/minute and two data options (300MB and 1GB)
depending on the customer’s needs.
Digital Television
With regard to television, Euskaltel continues to develop the
High Definition service, a technology that provides better
quality and more realistic image on television and, which,
unlike its competitors, Euskaltel can offer to all its customers
of its fibre optic network.
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Euskaltel Digital Television interactive magazine.
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Main TV Premium Extra channels

SERIES & FILMS

SPORTS

Euskaltel continues to improve its channel line-up, by
adapting it to the latest trends and adding leading content.
An example of these improvements are 4 of the most
popular TV Premium Hollywood channels - Cosmo, Canal
Cocina and Vaughan TV (Learn English) - being added to
the Basic TV package, for just a low monthly fee.
We have also added channels to the Premium and Filmpack
packages.

DOCUMENTARIES

HOME

Yet Euskaltel’s innovation in TV does not stop here. We
have changed the dials to make it easier for the user to
delve into these and other channels to further enhance the
customer’s experience. The new line-up improves access to
and perception of the TV contents.
Companies

YOUTH & MUSIC

A LA CARTE

FILMPACK

In 2013, the ‘Connect-Lan’ customer data private network
product has been upgraded for the business segment. It is
now the highest rated and most sought-after product by
our business customers.
Using our technological advantage, we have increased and
improved the convergent and integral offering of the ONE
service and launched a new service that includes telephone
switchboard services but hosted in our network: the Virtual
Switchboard.
Commercial actions

CHILD PACK
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In 2013, commercial actions have been particularly focused
on increasing customer loyalty among our customer base.
Among many actions we have included the possibility of
contracting a new service and using it free of charge during
a trial period.
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Our Network
Euskaltel bases its focus and vocation as an integral
telecommunications operator with future evolution
guarantees on the deployment of a high capacity and
capillarity owned network, which allows the provision of
high value and differentiated services.
This network, consisting of cutting-edge technological
equipment and infrastructure is based on the intensive use
of fibre optics, covers all the municipalities that Euskaltel
directly serves, apart from inter-connecting the different
population centres and with the main hubs.
Different technologies are based on it that enable us to
offer all the services demanded by our customers related
with: broadband, Fixed Line telephones, cable television and
mobile telephones. Apart from the own infrastructures that
it uses to reach their end customers, Euskaltel has numerous
connection points with other international and national
operators that guarantee that they can communicate with any
place in the world as if they were calling in their own town.
At the end of 2013, the Euskaltel network had around
4,718 km of fibre optic cables laid, which corresponds to
346,700 km of fibre optics. The potential beneficiaries of
that infrastructure are approximately 834,509 households
and 156,774 companies and commercial establishments of
the Basque Country.
This deployment will continue over the coming years,
given that we have detected the existence of a demand for
telecommunication services, apart from having perceived
how the deployment of an alternative access network
has enabled the quality of life to be improved of areas
that until then had no real alternative or even a service in
reasonable conditions. In 2013, work therefore began on
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The Euskaltel network has 346,700 kilometres of fibre optics
deployed throughout the Basque Country.

planning a future access service to Broadband Internet
through satellite as an alternative for difficult access zones.
Euskaltel has all the network core elements necessary to
be able to offer services and develop own products related
with mobile telephones (voice and data mobility) and is
the largest virtual mobile operator in Spain by number of
customers.
The geographical mobile coverage of access within Spain
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is provided by sharing the network of one of the four
operators that currently have a frequency. In the case of
other countries, roaming agreements with local operators
enable our customers to continue using their phone
terminals when they are travelling on business or pleasure.
Mobile network coverage
Euskaltel has all the network core elements needed to be
able to offer services and develop own products related
with mobile lines (voice and data mobility) and is the
largest virtual mobile operator (VMO) in Spain by number
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of customers. The geographical coverage of the access
within Spain is provided by sharing the network of one
of the four operators that currently has a frequency. In the
case of other countries, roaming agreements with local
operators enable our customers to continue using their
phone terminals when they are travelling on business or
pleasure.
Wimax mobile network coverage
Since 2006, Euskaltel has been providing broadband and
voice services in different settings, mainly rural, in the 251
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municipalities of the Basque Country, by using WIMAX
wireless technology, by means of a contract awarded
through a public tender of the Basque Government through
Itelazpi S.A.
The customers who enjoy those services – approximately
3,530 at the end of 2013 – reside or work in locations, many
of which had no alternative possibility to receive broadband
services.

The Euskaltel network has 346,700
km of fibre optics. The potential
beneficiaries of that infrastructure are
approximately 834,509 households and
156,774 companies and commercial
establishments of the Basque
Country.

Fibre optics provides agility and versatility when covering different technology events in the Basque Country.
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Reliability
Since Euskaltel embarked on designing its network, priority
has been given to the security of the service, as we know
how important it is for our customers to be able to trust
their commercial and personal communications in a
reliable supplier.
The topology of the Euskaltel fibre optic network basically
follows a ring design that allows the services to be
protected in the case of an interruption to the service or
failure of some of the sections of the network by different
causes. Apart from this physical path redundancy, much
of the equipment and main elements of the network are
duplicated and/or interconnected in meshed circuits so that
should there be a failure or saturation problem in any of
them, the traffic is automatically redirected to another or
others to establish a route without a drop in service and
without the customer perceiving it.
Euskaltel is firmly committed to being a global
telecommunications operator for its customers, something
that it achieves by extending its own fibre optic network
from its hubs to the homes and locations of their customers
and potential customers.
This strategy is clearly differential to the vast majority
of market operators that are based on third-party
infrastructures and/or networks. Even though it involves
a huge effort in terms of investments, work and time, it
is the only way of guaranteeing that the services that we
supply can evolve appropriately, apart from being able to
offer more advanced services that other operators could
not provide. That has allowed us to become the leading
operator in the Basque Country both in broadband (with
very high speed products) and pay television (high definition
and digital television).
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CORPORATE GOVERNMENT

Our Shareholders
As of 31 December 2013, the Euskaltel share capital stood
at 379.6 million euros and the issue premium was up at
79.4 million euros.
The amount of the company’s equity came to 500.8 million
euros.
Shareholder Structure of Euskaltel as of 31 December 2013:
Shareholder

Shares

%

Internacional Cable B.V.
Kutxabank, S.A.

3.043.234
2.710.065

48,10%
42,83%

Araba Gertu, S.A.

447.053

7,07%

Iberdrola, S.A.

126.538

2,00%

TOTAL

6.326.890

Members of the Board of Directors
Alberto García Erauzkin
Chairman

Richard Alden
Deputy Chairman

Alicia Vivanco González
Member

Alfonso Basagoiti Zavala
Member

Javier Bañón Treviño
Member

100,00%

John Mowinckel
Administrative Authorities

Member
(Mareblu, S. à.r.l. Representative)

The Euskaltel Administrative Authorities are the General
Meeting of Shareholders and the Board of Directors.

Bridget Cosgrave

The Board of Directors has approved its Internal
Regulations (Regulations of the Board of Directors), which
contains its principles, basic rules for the organisation and
operation thereof, and the rules of conduct to be observed
by its members, in order to achieve the greatest degree
of transparency, effectiveness, dynamism, supervision,
and control in the performance of its management and
supervision duties and representation of the corporate
interest.
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Member

José Ángel Corres Abasolo
Member

Francisco Javier Allende Arias
Secretary

Javier Ruiz-Cámara Bayo
Deputy Secretary
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The Board of Directors has set up the following committees
with an information and advisory role:

Nomination and Remuneration Committee
Nature and duties

a)
b)

Audit and Control Committee.
Nomination and Remuneration Committee.

Audit and Control Committee

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee is a
consultative and informative body, without executive duties,
with information, advisory and proposal powers within its
sphere of action. It shall be governed by what is envisaged
in the Articles of Association and in its own Regulations.

Nature and duties
The Audit and Control Committee is a consultative
and informative body, without executive duties, with
information, advisory and proposal powers within its
sphere of action. It shall be governed by what is envisaged
in the Articles of Association and in its own Regulations.

The main task of the Committee is to assist report and
submit recommendations to the Board of Directors in the
areas assigned to the committee at any given time by the
Articles of Associations, the Regulations of the Board and
the Regulations of the Committee.
Composition

The main task of the Committee is to assist, report and
submit recommendations to the Board of Directors in the
areas assigned to the committee at any given time by the
Articles of Associations, the Regulations of the Board and
the Regulations of the Committee.

• Richard Alden. Chairman
• Alfonso Basagoiti Zavala. Member
• Javier Bañón Treviño. Member

Composition
• José Ángel Corres Abasolo. Member
• Alicia Vivanco González. Chairwoman
• Francisco Javier Allende Arias. Secretary
• Richard Alden. Member
• Bridget Cosgrave. Member
• John Mowinckel. Member (Mareblu, S. à.r.l. Representative)
• Francisco Javier Allende Arias. Secretary
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Management Team
Fernando Ojeda
General Manager

Francisco Javier Allende
General Secretary and External Relations Manager

Eloy López-Para
Corporate Development and Chairman’s Office Staff

Carlos Ávila
Business Analysis and Management Control Director

Alberto Santamaría
Administration and Financial Director

Iñaki Barrio
Director of Operations

Aitor Markaida
Business Director

Manuel Salaverria
Customer Management Director

Manuel Arco
Organisation, Human Resources and Quality Director

Our responsibility
Euskaltel’s mission is aimed at generating value.

“Providing a full response to the communication needs
of people and companies helping them to attain greater
productivity by providing information management and
communication tools, thus contributing to the social and
economic development of our Community”.
The forward-looking vision is ambitious and involves a
huge commitment:
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“Leading company in the services offered in the Basque Country, embracing
the needs of its customers and providing outstanding support and service;
while being alert to the opportunities for growth and development in the
value chain itself and in other geographical markets”.
The Corporate Values are the hallmarks:
“The corporate values are our hallmarks and they determine our ways
of acting and of understanding the interrelation framework with
people inside and outside the company”.
Euskaltel has a Corporate Social Responsibility Policy that
sets out Euskaltel’s commitment to CSR vvvvvv.euskaltel.
com.) Apart from the CSR Policy, Euskaltel also has a farreaching set of policies and codes of conduct to ensure
that the values are put into practice in the day-to-day work,
including:
• Good Government Policy
• Integrated Management System Policy (Quality, the
Environment, Health and Safety).
• Ethical Code for Employees and Ethical Code for Suppliers.
• Linguistic Policy.
• Risk Management and Control Policy
• Information Security Policy.
• Information Risk Management Policy.
• Gender Policy.
Awards, Recognitions and Certifications
Euskaltel is periodically audited by accredited entities in
different fields of its activity and has renewed its certificates:
• Quality Management System Certificate (ISO 9001)
• Environmental Management System Certificate (ISO
14001)
• Entered in the EMAS III Community System Registry
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KNOWLEDGE SHARING FORUMS
As part of Euskaltel’s commitment to CSR and our commitment to advanced management and the strategic goal of
being a benchmark in business social responsibility, the decision was taken for Euskaltel to participate in forums for
dialogue, learning and sharing best practices in the interest of sustainability, including the Spanish Global Compact
Network, Izaite, Euskalit, Bizkaia Forum, Álava Business Social Responsibility Forum.

Euskaltel was the venue for the “Committed to Environmental Drivers” seminar

In 2013, representatives of different companies attended the “Committed to Environmental Drivers” seminar,
where Euskaltel was the host of this event organised by the Basque Ecodesign Center (BEdC) as part of the XIX
European Quality Week. As a BEdC partner company, Euskaltel is actively involved in the organisation of this type
of encounters, whose goal, in this case, was to unveil a support programme to the companies that are part of the
respective supply chains of the partners. The aim is to empower them and ensure them a place in the technical
projects being developed in Ecodesign and corporate services procurement.
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• Certificate of the Occupational Health and Safety
Management System (OHSAS 18001)
• Information Security Management System Certificate (ISO
27001)
Euskaltel received the following awards and recognitions
in 2013:
• Euskaltel, recognised in the “Best Practices Guide in
Gender Social Responsibility (GSR)” prepared by lecturers
at the University of the Basque Country – Euskal Herriko
Unibertsitatea, for the rationalisation of timetables for
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work-life balance.
• Euskaltel, recognised by Hirukide, the Basque Federation
of Large Family Associations. Our company has been
honoured with the award for the entity or company, which
is annually given to the companies or institutions that
collaborate with this collective during the year.
• Euskaltel, recognised by the Ministry for the Environment
and Territorial Policy of the Basque Government for its
proven commitment to continuous improvement of its
environmental performance by means of its voluntary
signing up to the EMAS registry.
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PERSONAL DATA PROTECTION
Euskaltel has an Information Security Management System in place pursuant to the ISO 27001 standard certified
externally since 2012 and the relevant renewal audit was conducted in 2013. The Euskaltel Information Security
Management System envisages the Data Protection policy which sets out the specific procedures to ensure the
successful implementation of this policy.
The management and maintenance of the personal data following the data quality principle established in the
relevant legislation, the exercising of the rights of the customers in this regard (access, rectification, cancellation
and challenging of the data) pursuant to the principle of the consent of the interested party, along with the access
to the customer personal data to provide third-party services that allow the mandatory control of their use are
covered by the aforementioned procedures. The application of the following security measures is an essential part
of this policy:
• Reducing the risk of breach of the legislation in this regard and, therefore, of penalties by the Personal Data
Protection Agency.
• Ensuring the optimum quality of the data.
• Improving the management of customer support regarding data protection requests and claims.
• Fulfilling a legal obligation established in Article 89.2 of the Enactment Regulations of the Spanish Data Protection
Act.
• Training workers in order to guarantee that they know their obligations, along with their secrecy and security duty
regarding the personal data to which they have access in the performance of their duties.
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OUR PEOPLE

The human team
of the Euskaltel
group
consists of

546
people
40

out of which nearly

70%
are

university graduates
2013 Annual Report

The average age
of our team is

42 years old
and is broken down as
40% women and 60%
men.
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99.2%
of the
workforce are

on a permanent and
indefinite contract.
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Our people
Euskaltel, faithful to its founding criteria, continues to
be committed to the stability and continuity of people.
Therefore, 99.26% of the workforce has a permanent,
indefinite and full-time contract.
The average age of the Euskaltel workforce is 42.14 years old.
65% are graduates, 26% technical staff and the remaining
9% have other types of qualifications.

Euskaltel deploys an internal
communication activity in order to
share the objectives and strategies
among everyone.

Work-life balance
As part of its commitment to a work-life balance, Euskaltel
approaches the labour relationship from the principle of
flexibility.
Throughout 2013, the pilot scheme for remote working
introduced in 2012 was run. Fifteen people from different
departments of the company took part.
Integration of the disabled
Euskaltel complies with what is established in Act 13/1982,
of 7 April (LISMI), by means of creating direct employment,
and in the implementation of alternative measures,
contemplated in that legislation, which in our case takes
the form of donations to the Adecco Foundation.
It is continuing with the AFLORA Plan designed in order
to surface possible disabilities of people already working
at Euskaltel. At Euskaltel, we allocate a monthly amount
to those people while the incapacitating circumstance
last. Euskaltel has organised different awareness raising
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Breakfast with the Chairman enables direct contact with everyone
in the company and fosters pride.
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activities about disability for the workforce.
Equal opportunities
Euskaltel’s workforce is made up of 40% women and 60%
men.

“Breakfast with the Chairman” were recognised as the best
human resources practices at the Cegos Awards.

The management of Euskaltel’s human team is based on
respecting human rights, by fostering equal opportunities,
facilitating the freedom of association and the right to
collective bargaining. Aware that its management strategies
and polices must be passed down in the value chain,
Euskaltel signed up to the Global Compact in 2003.
Euskaltel develops internal communication activities
in order to share the objectives and strategies among
everyone, along with fostering their pride of belonging. An
innovative and differentiating way that Euskaltel uses in its
internal communication are ‘Breakfasts with the Chairman’
(Cegos Award to the Best Practices in Human Resources
due to its innovation). In 2013, 21 breakfasts were held and
499 people attended. The employees had the opportunity
to spend time with the Chairman of the company to directly
raise their doubts and concerns, along with their challenges
and illusions. The new General Manager joined those
encounters in 2013.
The Internal Digital Magazine is another of the instruments
used to share information of interest related to the company
and to the different teams and individuals that conform it.
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Every year, the Euskaltel charity calendar helps to bring its people together to
support a common social cause.

Internal social action
During 2013, the company has continued to encourage and
integrate the employees in the different initiatives coming
under the internal sphere of Euskatel’s Corporate Social
Responsibility.
In keeping with this approach, the employees have taken
part to push the initiative organised by a family of Bizkaia to
collect solidarity bottle caps, whose conversion into money
is used to pay medical costs and buy devices to improve the
mobility of a child.
Euskaltel continues to collaborate with the “DONATE YOUR
MOBILE” (http://www.donatumovil.org/) set up by the
ALBOAN AND RED CROSS NGOs, facilitating the collection
of used mobile telephones at the corporate building and
at the points of sale, to then be sold as used material and
obtaining funds for their goals.
The internal social action links in with the Corporate
Social Responsibility in different ways. One of them is the
collaboration with the EITB fundraising Telethon, which in
recent years has focused on research into child cancer and
into the transplants of organs and tissues. The employees
were yet again featured in the IV Euskaltel charity calendar.
Apart from the employees images, the money collected
from its sale among the employees and their friends and
family was used to meet that objective.
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Employees receiving information in the auditorium of the
company’s HQ about the performance of the company.

In 2013, the company continued to implement among
Euskaltel employees the Family Plan together with the
Adecco foundation. The plan’s objective was to support
those employees with disability problems among its family
members to provide them with job insertion and free timeleisure programmes.
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The Olentzero Party was also held when Christmas presents
were handed to the children of the Euskaltel employees to
celebrate Christmas and another opportunity for Euskaltel
families and employees to get together.
On the other hand, Euskaltel works with the Food Bank, by
organising food collection for the most needed. The social
institutions that receive the food expressed their gratitude
for the support and charity help. And they stressed, “at this
time, it is pleasing to see the spirit of solidarity to be found
in society”.

The Olentzero Christmas Party is part of a full social action
programme that aims to bring the employees and their families
closer to the Euskaltel project.

Periodic talks are held to raise awareness among Euskaltel has worked with EITB, the Basque public broadcasting company, in the
Telethon to raise funds for research into child cancer.
employees regarding integrating disability.
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OUR SOCIAL COMMITMENT

Our Social Commitment
Institutional Activity
2013 was a year of institutional positioning. The economic
crisis continued, there was a general climate of budgetary
austerity and, despite this situation, the company had to
pursue its mission to remain bound and tied to the territory
in which it operates. Proximity and commitment have been,
and continue to be, the criteria that have underpinned the
Euskaltel relations with institutions and the social activity
and sponsorships.
In this line of action, Euskaltel has proposed different
types of projects to the institutions and their different
departments and has learnt the institutional sensitivity
towards the strategic issues of the region. Euskaltel
also has a global view of areas such as Innovation and
Corporate Social Responsibility thanks to which it holds
the chair of two entities: Innobasque (Basque Innovation
Agency) and Izaite (Association of Basque Companies for
Sustainability). This has enabled Euskaltel to participate
actively in Innobasque by working on defining the keys for
the evolution of Innovation in the Basque Country, along
with its role in Izaite, as a prescriber in the preparation of
the White Paper on Social Responsibility that positions the
Basque Government and, specifically, large corporations
in the Basque Country and its sustainable management
system based on new European trends.
Furthermore, at the request of the Confederation of Basque
Employers, Confebask, we take part in Kontsumobide
(Basque Consumer Institute), where we represent the
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The photos show the institutional visit of Miguel Ángel Lujua,
Chairman of Confederation of Basque Employers, and of
Arantza Tapia, the Basque Government’s Minister for Economic
Development and Competitiveness.

telecommunications sector in the world of consumers and
users.
We are also part of many clusters and associations that
enable us to exchange knowledge or business experiences:
ADEGI, AMETIC, AOC, EUSKALIT Foundation, APD, FUNKO, F.
ARIZMENDIARRIETA, ECOTIC FOUNDATION, GAIA, BILBAO
METROPOLI 30, INKOLAN, INNOBASQUE, CEBEK, IZAITE,
BILBAO FINANCIAL CLUB, SEA, EIKEN, BASQUE BUSINESS
CIRCLE, ECOPILAS FOUNDATION, ECOEMBES, SPANISH
NETWORK OF THE UN GLOBAL COMPACT.
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Alberto García Erauzkin, Chairman of Euskaltel, speaking at the
Bilbao Financial Club business forum.

Fernando Ojeda, General Manager of Euskaltel, at “Prest”, a
session that the company holds with its business customer every
year to share ideas from the world of telecommunications.

Special mention of the areas in which we worked in 2013:
Family arena
At Euskaltel, we have a broad range of services aimed at
families. We have approached this area from the point
of view of attracting and establishing customer loyalty.
The agreements with Large Families, over four thousand
members in Hirukide, an entity with which we actively
cooperate, along with the discounts negotiated to members
of these associations, have ensured a very important group,
from the point of view of residential customers linked to
Euskaltel. We work with them by showcasing the company
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at their annual territorial events, along with catalogues of
grants and subsidies that the families regularly receive.
Special mention has to be made of Aste Nausia, the main
week of festivities in Donostia-San Sebastián and Bilbao,
with the sponsorship of any local festivity, fireworks, and
customer-experiences at family events and activities linked
to leisure.
Integration and Equality
Euskaltel fosters equality and respect diversity within its
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company values. And this commitment internally within the
company has external visibility.
Combining these values with the requirements of the
LISMI, Social Integration of the Disabled Act, agreements
have been established with Basque Team, which works
in order to foster the elite sport of the Basque Country,
to encourage sportspeople with functional diversity and
professional sport in women. This activity is included
within the reversion activities that the LISMI envisages for
Basque companies.
Likewise pursuant to the LISMI (Social Integration of the
Disabled Act), an awareness-raising programme has
been set up in Euskaltel through lectures and talks for
employees, in conjunction with the Adecco Foundation, in
order to bring the values of personal achievement and the
integration of the disabled in everyday life.
With regard to Equality, Euskaltel takes part socially in
activities that foster this area, such as taking part in the
election and prize for the business woman of the year that
is organised by the Bizkaia Association of Businesswomen
and Women Directors.
Sports
Every year, Euskaltel organises a family sports day called
Kirol Eguna Euskaltel. Games and competitions are held
during the fun event aimed at young and elderly where
whole families enjoy trying out free-of-charge different
sports in a healthy spirit.

Euskaltel works with different foundations for the job integration
of people with disabilities.

teams (Athletic Club, Real Sociedad and Deportivo Alavés),
we are reaching out to the customer and sharing with the
fans their moments of euphoria and joy, as well as their
suffering and concerns.
Yet beyond football and its media coverage, we also value
sports that are so deep-rooted in our society, such as
surfing, by means of sponsoring over 15 competitions and
championships organised by the EHSF (Euskal Herriko Surf
Federazioa) surfing federation along the Basque coastline,
without forgetting the importance of mountain climbing, or
Basque pelota. They are all vehicles to transmit the values
linked to Euskaltel, including hard work, team work, health
and nature.
Experiences

Based on the idea that a taste for sport often goes from
being something rational to something emotional, Euskaltel
seeks to share those emotions with society. Thanks to the
emotional link that we establish by sponsoring football
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The experiences are linked to the strategic positioning
that Euskaltel has defined as a differential value towards
its customers, an aspect that is also being managed by the
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Euskaltel’s accumulated investment
stands at 1,866 million euros, the
highest per inhabitant of the sector in
Spain: 860 euros.

competitors on the market. There are no great differences
in product, prices, value-added services or customer care.
How can customers be attracted and retained? Experiences
that offer areas of emotion that cannot be bought, and
this intangible may be a plus in the decision to remain or
change operator.
We organised fifteen experiences in 2013, many of them
with a huge level of online fans, which have expressed their
gratitude and assertiveness in the offering launched. All
those experiences are linked to sponsorship concepts that
are set up to be inimitable and unique experiences.

Basque Pelota, along with Football or Surfing, help to connect Euskaltel with the fans through the values that sport transmits.
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Training for action
With regard to training, cooperation lines have been designed
in prevention and responsible use of telecommunications,
along with creativity and bridging the gap with the digital
world.

them to connect to the business, technology and scientific
reality of Bizkaia and the Basque Country. The participants
are students selected by the universities, students from the
last year of their degree with greatest potential, both from
the Academic Social interaction point of view and from the
perspective of the potential human and social skills.

Euskaltel is taking part in the TALENTIA programme that
is a joint initiative of bizkaia:talent, along with the three
Basque universities (Deusto University, the University of the
Basque Country and Mondragón University) based in the
Basque Country, whose purpose is to direct the university
students with greatest potential to an appropriate job
insertion and professional development, along with helping

On the other hand, Euskaltel and Innobasque are helping
to organise the First Lego League in the Basque Country.
Its purpose is to develop in young people creative skills,
analytical thought, team work and, above all, to foster
innovation values, while, at the same, passing on scientific
and technology knowledge.

Innovation and team work are some of the values that come into play in the First Lego League world competition. Euskaltel is the
venue in the Basque Country for this international event.
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Education, culture and the Basque language
Euskaltel offers its customers the choice of language in
which they want to deal with the operator. This aspect was
ground-breaking and a great differential value in Euskaltel’s
products and services on the market. It is an asset that
adds to what the customers are offered and that must not
lose perspective in the relationship with the user. Linked
to this decision, Euskaltel produced an internal training
plan to respond to this market requirement and which it
highlighted by sponsoring events linked to fostering the
use of the Basque Language. That line continued in 2013
with the cooperation with the Ikastolas (Basque-medium
schools) Federation.
Gozatueuskaltel.com
Gozatu has already proven to be the meeting space between
the company and their reversion actions to Society. This
website showcases and records Euskaltel’s footprints in a
multitude of small and large activities in the setting of the
natural market. It is now time to consolidate it and turn it
into a more global tool and, in turn, more approachable
and useful. It is the social interaction zone par excellence.
This space is where the consumer enters the Euskaltel
world, with culture, leisure, draws, the prescribers, shared
stories, recommendations, event images, social acts. This
space seeks to identify the consumers and users with the
world of intangibles. Our aim is to get the attention and
involve the customers or potential customers and for them
to feel represented by the sponsors and events where we
take part.

In 2013, Euskaltel has contributed 82
million euros in taxes to the Basque
Treasury, and over 800 million in taxes
through the years.

educating in the new technologies to those collectives who
find it harder to get to grasp with them (older people, with
fewer resources, with disability, etc.) or in collectives that
show interest in further learning (young people, teachers,
etc.).
Training actions
The Eskola Euskaltel project groups together all the
training activities aimed at groups external to the Euskaltel
employees. It uses all the synergies with Euskaltel both in
aspects to invigorate “digital” knowledge and its transfer
to customers and society, as in other training opportunities
that Euskaltel or its suppliers, may generate. This project
is aimed at both improving the professional and technical
skills of the suppliers and at increasing the number of
professionals linked to the telecommunications available in
the market.

Euskaltel Foundation

In 2013, a travelling classroom with 14 computers and all
the necessary teaching means was used as a support.

Among its objectives, the Euskaltel Foundation aims to
drive the development of the digital life in society, bringing/

On the other hand, Euskaltel is helping to create and improve
employment with a set of training actions for technicians,
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installers and salespeople from the telecommunications
sector.
It has continued to work with Local Development Agencies
and special mention should be made of its role yet again
this year in the week of the Tolosaldea ICTs which 220
people attended.

The Euskaltel purchases from Basque
companies have exceeded 2,369 million
euros.

Driving the Euskaltel strategy
In order to boost the Euskaltel strategy to foster the
sharing of digital knowledge and support the new digital
industries, while consolidating the positioning in the sphere
of entertainment and leisure, the Euskaltel Foundation has
continued to develop projects in 2014 that have enabled
a technology contribution to cover a leisure aspect, by
encouraging the most amusing and young version of
technologies.
The activities to be highlighted in 2013 are as follows:
Euskal Encounter 21
The 21st Euskal Encounter was held between 25 and 28

July 2013 and it attracted over 7,000 computer and video
game fans.
The Euskal Encounter is the oldest party in Spain and is
among the largest and fastest parties in the world (20 Gb/s).
Its young participants include people from over 15 different
countries and from all the Spanish regions. 45% are from
the Basque Country, 50% from the rest of Spain and 5% from
other countries.
Regarding the Opengune, the Stands, Conferences and
Workshops of the Euskal Encounter open to the general
public, a strategic agreement was reached with Enpresa

The Euskal Encounter is the technology event par excellence and
one of the largest and fastest “parties” in the world.
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Digitala, for it to consolidate the Workshops organised by
the aforementioned entity and aimed mainly at Basque
companies. The success was such that there was a waiting
list to be able to take part in it. 10,000 people visited the
Opengune zone, where both Euskaltel and other sponsors
could exhibit their products and services.

Gamegune 11
Electronic sports (eSports) is a term for organised videogame
competitions,
particularly
between
Professionals.
Gamegune is a European eSports competition. It has
become a stalwart of Euskal Encounter over previous years
and Counter Strike 1.6 is its star game.

Gipuzkoa Encounter 7
The 7th Gipuzkoa Encounter was held from 1 to 3 March
2013. Four hundred computers and 600 people got together
at the Usabal Sports Centre in Tolosa and meetings were
organised between the videogame industry Basque and
the creative designers that attended the encounters leading
to new business opportunities and alternative work
approaches.

This year, the COD (Call Of Duty) was used as the star
game and, for the first time, it was part of the international
gaming competitions.

Lehendakari Iñigo Urkullu, the Basque Premier, opened the 22nd
Euskal Encounter
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OUR ENVIRONMENTAL RESPONSIBILITY

Our Environmental Responsibility
In line with the Strategic Plan 2011-2013, a Corporate Social
Responsibility Master Plan was defined and it laid out the
actions for the different dimensions of CSR, including the
environmental variable. The Master Plan is structured
into different strategic lines, which include “Excellence
in Environmental Management – Sustainability”, whose
objective is “to deploy the policies to reduce the
environmental impact of the activities of the company
by fostering good environmental practices”, as well as for
caring for biodiversity.
Environmental Behaviour
Euskaltel has established
monitoring of consumption,
it considers to be important
our activity, whether or not
environmental aspects.

operational controls and
waste and emissions that
in relation to the nature of
they come from significant

In this sense, in 2013 we have continued to foster the
prevention actions (minimisation at source and reuse),
compared to recovery (recycling and energy recovery) and
elimination (controlled dumping). Specifically, control and

reduction of energy consumption and natural resources
(electricity, diesel), cutting consumption of materials (paper
for invoices, magazines and office), reuse of equipment and
materials (donation and/or sale of mobile terminals), and
the use of recycled materials (recycled paper).
Control of emissions and dumping
Euskaltel is signed up to the STOP CO2 Euskadi initiative
(see www.stopco2euskadi.com), as a “Plus Partner”, which
involves performing and publishing the annual calculations
of the greenhouse gas emissions (GHG), the definition of a
plan for its reduction and the verification by a recognised
third party.
Furthermore, Euskaltel calculates its organisation carbon
footprint annually and prepares the GHG emission reports
following the specified requirements in the UNE-ISO
14064-1:2006 standard, where both the direct and indirect
emissions.

The environmental commitment is also reflected in the participation of Euskaltel people in a volunteer programme to clean and
condition natural spaces, that combine environmental and social actions.
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ASPECT

2011

2012

2013

Unit

30.669,53

27.495,45

28.295,87

Mwh

ENERGY CONSUMPTION
Total
Electricity consumption

Diesel

Corporate consumption

1.924,49

1.966,40

1.923,31

Mwh

Production consumption

28.745,05

25.529,05

26.372,56

Mwh

Generators

0,96

3,35

3,95

Tons

Company cars

56,42

57,06

56,32

Tons

Employees’ cars

61,35

43,29

31,80

Tons

809 building

3.202

3.183

2.553

m3

226 building

2.082

1.585

1.426

m3

Bills printed

67,36

64,81

35,36

Tons

Magazines published

84,43

26,92

12,39

Tons

RESOURCES CONSUMPTION
Water

PAPER CONSUMPTION
Paper

Advertising mailshots

131,42

133,59

93,63

Tons

Materials (envelopes. forms)

0,78

0,49

0,41

Tons

Printing equipment (office)

7,88

7,05

6,60

Tons

Fibre Optic cables

52,85

17,15

11,74

Tons

MATERIALS CONSUMPTION
Cables

Equipment

Pairs cable

100,67

59,62

18,88

Tons

Coaxial cable

84,64

80,78

26,52

Tons

Siamese cable

14,75

15,65

7,5

Tons

Broadband equipment

60,31

42,60

29,54

Tons

TV equipment

152,00

95,23

35,68

Tons

Telephone equipment

16,14

10,29

9,85

Tons

WASTE
Non-hazardous waste

Cellulosic (paper and cardboard)

56,78

45,58

37,85

Tons

Waste stream (electric and electronic)

33,68

57,01

37,87

Tons

Alkaline batteries

0,25

0,14

0,12

Tons

Button batteries

240

310

430

grams

Acid lead battery

16,88

10,77

6,68

Tons

Fluorescent

0,54

0,48

0,61

Tons

GHG Direct

CO2

180,74

190,30

189,85

Eq. CO2 Ton

(scope1)

CH4

0,24

0,25

0,25

Eq. CO2 Ton

N2O

2,83

2,88

2,84

Eq. CO2 Ton

HFC

231,02

12,31

147,89

Eq. CO2 Ton

PFC

0,00

0,00

0,00

Eq. CO2 Ton

SF6

0,00

0,00

0,00

Eq. CO2 Ton

CO2

6.839,31

6.626,40

4.926,21

Eq. CO2 Ton

SO2

0,29

0,31

0,31

Tons

NOX

2,24

2,35

2,35

Tons

Solid Particles

0,22

0,24

0,23

Tons

Hazardous waste

EMISSIONS

GHG indirect
(scope 2)
Other emissions into the air
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MANAGEMENT REPORT

KPMG Auditores S.L.
Gran Vía, 17
48001 Bilbao

Independent Auditors’ Report on the Annual Accounts
(Translation from the original in Spanish. In the event of discrepancy,
the Spanish-language version prevails)
To the Shareholders of
Euskaltel, S.A.
We have audited the annual accounts of Euskaltel, S.A. (“the Company”), which comprise the
balance sheet at 31 December 2013, the income statement, statement of changes in equity and
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes. The Directors are responsible for the
preparation of these annual accounts in accordance with the financial reporting framework applicable
to the entity (specified in note 2.1 to the accompanying annual accounts) and, in particular, with the
accounting principles and criteria set forth therein. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
these annual accounts taken as a whole, based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance
with prevailing legislation regulating the audit of accounts in Spain, which requires examining, on a
test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the annual accounts and evaluating
whether their overall presentation, the accounting principles and criteria used and the accounting
estimates made comply with the applicable financial reporting framework.
In our opinion, the accompanying annual accounts for 2013 present fairly, in all material respects,
the equity and financial position of Euskaltel, S.A. at 31 December 2013, its financial performance
and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with the applicable financial reporting
framework and, in particular, with the accounting principles and criteria set forth therein.
The accompanying directors’ report for 2013 contains such explanations as the Directors consider
relevant to the situation of Euskaltel, S.A., its business performance and other matters, and is not an
integral part of the annual accounts. We have verified that the accounting information contained
therein is consistent with that disclosed in the annual accounts for 2013. Our work as auditors is
limited to the verification of the directors’ report within the scope described in this paragraph and
does not include a review of information other than that obtained from the accounting records of the
Company.
KPMG Auditores, S.L.
(Signed on original in Spanish)
Enrique Asla
28 April 2014

KPMG Auditores S.L., a limited liability Spanish company, is an affiliate
of KPMG Europe LLP and a member firm of the KPMG network of
independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International, a Swiss
cooperative.
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EUSKALTEL, S.A.
Balance Sheets at 31 December 2013 and 2012
(Expressed in thousands of Euros)
(Free translation from the original in Spanish. In the event of discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.)
ASSETS

Note

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

31.12.2013 31.12.2012
973,003

1,017,651

Intangible assets

5

20,382

15,878

Property, plant and equipment

6

787,998

827,602

117,734
670,264

122,355
705,247

Land and buildings
Technical installations and other items
Non-c urrent investments in Group c ompanies and assoc iates

7 and 8

32

35

Non-c urrent investments

7 and 9

3,151

1,122

Trade and other rec eivables

7 and 9

781

-

160,659

173,014

48,759

45,664

Deferred tax assets

15

CURRENT ASSETS
Inventories

11

2,202

3,826

7 and 9

39,395

40,724

Current investments in Group c ompanies and assoc iates

7 and 9

171

3

Current investments

7 and 9

20

49

Trade and other rec eivables

Prepayments for c urrent assets
Cash and c ash equivalents

12

TOTAL ASSETS

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Note

EQUITY
Capital and reserves

13

Capital
Share premium
Reserves
Prior years' profit and loss
Profit for the year
V aluation adjustments

13

Available-for-sale financial assets
Hedging transactions
Other
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Non-c urrent payables
Group c ompanies and assoc iates, non-c urrent
Deferred tax liabilities

7 and 15
7, 15 and 20

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Current payables
Group c ompanies and assoc iates, c urrent
Trade and other payables
Current ac c ruals

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

7 and 15
7, 15 and 20
7 and 15

682

835

6,289

227

1,021,762

1,063,315

31.12.2013 31.12.2012
614,613

572,896

550,873

500,781

379,613
79,390
92,961
(51,183)
50,092

379,613
79,390
88,151
(94,477)
48,104

63,740

72,115

(64)
(577)
64,381

(64)
72,179

223,829

284,571

119,387
104,416
26

108,776
175,795
-

183,320

205,848

98,550
22,682
61,469
619

112,100
35,005
57,748
995
zº

1,021,762

1,063,315

Derio, 31 March 2014
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EUSKALTEL, S.A.
Income Statements for the years ended 31 December 2013 and 2012
(Expressed in thousands of Euros)
(Free translation from the original in Spanish. In the event of discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.)
Note
Revenues

17

Sales and services rendered
Self-c onstruc ted assets
Supplies

5 and 6
17

Other operating inc ome
Operating grants taken to income

2013

2012

329,148

338,542

329,148

338,542

5,184

3,439

(73,018)

(76,916)

559

819

559

819

Personnel expenses

17

(34,379)

(31,708)

Other operating expenses

17

(72,361)

(99,519)

Amortisation and deprec iation

17

(83,243)

(74,088)

Impairment and losses on disposal of fixed assets

17

Other gains
RESULTS FROM OPERATING ACTIV ITIES
Financ e inc ome
Financ e c osts
Exc hange gains

-

(1,801)

1,415

7,302

73,305

66,070

224

132

(16,133)

(12,424)

10

4

(40)

(437)

17

(15,939)

(12,725)

57,366

53,345

Inc ome tax

16

(7,274)

(5,241)

PROFIT FOR THE Y EAR

13

50,092

48,104

Impairment and losses on disposal of financ ial instruments
NET FINANCE COST
PROFIT BEFORE TAX

Derio, 31 March 2014
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EUSKALTEL, S.A.
Statements of Changes in Equity for the years ended 31 December 2013 and
2012
(Expressed in thousands of Euros)
(Free translation from the original in Spanish. In the event of discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.)

A)

Statements of Recognised Income and Expense for the years ended 31 December 2013
and 2012

Note
a) Profit for the year
b) Total inc ome and expense rec ognised direc tly in equity

13
13 and 15

Limited income tax deductions
Cash flow hedges
Tax effect
c ) Total amounts transferred to the inc ome statement

13 y 15

2013

2012

50,092

48,104

(995)

-

-

-

(1,381)

-

386

-

(7,380)

(8,043)

(7,798)

(8,043)

Transfer of limited deductions recognised in prior years
to the income statement
Cash flow hedges
Tax effect

TOTAL RECOGNISED INCOME AND EXPENSE

580

-

(162)

-

41,717

40,061

Derio, 31 March 2014
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Derio, 31 March 2014

Closing balanc e 2013

379,613

79,390

41,778

48,104

-

(6,326)

-

50,092

(48,104)

50,092

48,104

94,477

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

63,740

-

(8,375)

72,115

-

41,717

572,896

-

68,000

614,613

-

(94,477)

-

40,061

464,835

-

-

-

79,390

-

13,587

5,000

80,158
(8,043)

TOTA L

Distribution of dividends

-

379,613

-

54,413

-

-

(5,000)

V aluation
adjustments

Transactions with shareholders

Total recognised income and expense

Closing balanc e 2012

Other changes in equity

Share capital increase

(5,000)

48,104

(94,477)

Interim
dividend

-

-

93,151

Profit/(loss)
for the y ear

-

-

-

65,803

profit and loss

prior y ears'

Reserves and

Distribution of dividends

-

325,200

premium

Share

Transactions with shareholders

Total recognised income and expense

c apital

Subsc ribed

Statements of Total Changes in Equity for the years ended 31 December 2013 and 2012

Opening balanc e 2012

B)

(Free translation from the original in Spanish. In the event of discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.)

(Expressed in thousands of Euros)

Statements of Changes in Equity for the years ended 31 December 2013 and 2012

EUSKALTEL, S.A.

4

EUSKALTEL, S.A.
Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended 31 December 2013 and 2012
(Expressed in thousands of Euros)
(Free translation from the original in Spanish. In the event of discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.)

2013

2012

Profit before inc ome tax

57,366

53,345

Adjustments for:

97,335

91,307

83,243

74,088

Impairment

Amortisation and depreciation

1,435

2,693

Proceeds from impairment and disposals of fixed assets

(178)

1,801

Proceeds from impairment and disposals of financial instruments
Finance income
Finance costs
Exchange gains
Other gains
Other expenses
Changes in operating assets and liabilities
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Other current assets

40

437

(224)

(132)

16,133

12,424

(10)

(4)

(6,611)

-

3,507

-

1,049

(226,170)

2,037

1,993

(1,300)

26,482

102

632

(2,251)

(255,377)

2,461

100

(14,173)

(12,335)

(14,317)

(12,467)

Dividends received

129

-

Interest received

15

132

-

-

141,577

(93,853)

Trade and other payables
Other current liabilities
Other c ash flow s used in operating ac tivities
Interest paid

Income tax paid

Cash flows from (used in) operating activities

Derio, 31 March 2014
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EUSKALTEL, S.A.
Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended 31 December 2013 and 2012
(Expressed in thousands of Euros)
(Free translation from the original in Spanish. In the event of discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.)

Payments for investments
Group companies and associates

2013

2012

(49,908)

(127,038)

(40)

(437)

Intangible assets

(12,805)

(2,820)

Property, plant and equipment

(35,122)

(123,758)

(1,941)

(23)

7

254

7

254

(49,901)

(126,784)

-

68,000

-

68,000

Other financial assets
Proc eeds from sale of investments
Other financial assets

Cash flows used in investing activities
Proc eeds from and payments for equity instruments
Issue
Equity instruments
Proc eeds from and payments for financ ial liability instruments

(85,614)

96,410

83,167

168,865

Loans and borrowings

64,000

27,599

Group companies and associates

19,167

141,266

Issue

Repayment of

(168,781)

(72,455)

Loans and borrowings

(68,848)

(62,455)

Group companies and associates

(99,933)

(10,000)

(85,614)

164,410

Cash flows from (used in) financing activities

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at year end

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

227

56,454

6,289

227

6,062

(56,227)

Derio, 31 March 2014
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EUSKALTEL, S.A.
NOTES TO THE ANNUAL ACCOUNTS FOR 2013
(Expressed in thousands of Euros)
(Free translation from the original in Spanish. In the event of discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.)

NOTE 1.- General Information
Euskaltel, S.A. (hereinafter the Company) was incorporated with limited liability on 3 July 1995. Its first
product was launched on the market on 23 January 1998. Its registered office is located in Derio (Bizkaia) and
its products are mainly sold in the Autonomous Region of the Basque Country.
The Company's statutory and principal activity since its incorporation consists of the rendering, management,
installation, operation and marketing of telecommunications networks and services in accordance with
prevailing legislation, as well as the marketing and sale of goods required to carry out these services. The
Company's main facilities are located at the Bizkaia technology park.

NOTE 2.- Basis of Presentation
2.1. Fair presentation
The annual accounts for 2013 have been prepared on the basis of the accounting records of the Company in
accordance with prevailing legislation stipulated in the Spanish Code of Commerce amended in accordance
with Law 16/2007 of 4 July 2007 on the reform and adaptation of accounting legislation for harmonisation with
EU law, and the Spanish General Chart of Accounts approved by Royal Decree 1514/2007 and its subsequent
amendments through Royal Decree 1159/2010, to present fairly the equity and financial position at 31
December 2013 and results of operations and cash flows for the year then ended. The directors consider that
the annual accounts for 2013 will be approved by the shareholders at their annual general meeting with no
changes. The annual accounts for 2012 were approved by the shareholders at their general meeting held on 27
June 2013.
The Company does not prepare consolidated annual accounts for the Group of which it is the Parent, as the
directors have decided to avail of the exemption provided in article 7 of the standards for the preparation of
consolidated annual accounts (NOFCAC) approved by Royal Decree 1815/1991, as it only holds investments in
subsidiaries that are not, individually or as a whole, material to the fair presentation of the equity, financial
position and results of the Group companies.

2.2. Critical issues regarding the valuation and estimation of uncertainties
Preparation of the annual accounts requires certain estimates and judgements concerning the future. These
are evaluated constantly and based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future
events and, where applicable, the justified opinion of renowned experts.
In the event that the final outcome of the estimates differed from the amounts initially recognised, or
information that would modify these estimates became available, the effects of any changes in the initial
estimates are accounted for in the year they are known.
The estimates and judgements that present significant risk of a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities in the subsequent reporting period are as follows:

7
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a)

Income tax expense

Income tax is calculated based on management’s best estimates under current tax regulations, taking into
account foreseeable changes in those regulations.
b)

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax loss carryforwards, deductible temporary differences and
available deductions to the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable income will be available against
which these assets can be utilised. In order to determine the amount of the deferred tax assets to be
recognised, estimates are made of the amounts and dates on which future taxable profits will be obtained and
the reversal period of temporary differences.
c)

Useful lives and impairment of assets

The Company determines the estimated useful lives and related amortisation and depreciation charges of
assets based on the actual decline in value due to operation and use. The Company increases amortisation and
depreciation charges if the useful lives are shorter than previously estimated and writes down or writes off
technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold, or when circumstances indicate
that their carrying amount might not be recoverable.
d)

Impairment of current assets

The Company impairs inventories and receivables based on their estimated recoverable amount.
e)

Provisions

The nature of the Company's business and operations requires the use of provisions based on the Company's
best estimates.

2.3. Grouping of items
To facilitate understanding, certain items in the balance sheet, income statement, statement of changes in
equity and statement of cash flows have been aggregated, details of which are included in the relevant notes
to the annual accounts.

8
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NOTE 3.- Accounting Principles
3.1. Intangible assets
a)

Computer software

Computer software mainly reflects the acquisition and development of software applications, which are
recognised at cost under the pertinent intangible asset category and amortised on a straight-line basis over
their estimated useful life of between three and five years.
Computer software maintenance costs are charged as expenses when incurred. Costs directly related to the
production of single identifiable computer programs controlled by the Company that will probably generate
economic benefits in excess of costs for more than one year are recognised under intangible assets.
b)

Concessions

Administrative concessions are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and any recognised impairment.
Concessions are amortised on a straight-line basis over the term of the concession.
If the favourable situation that enabled expenses required to obtain the concession to be capitalised were to
change, the portion pending amortisation is taken to profit or loss in the year the situation changed.
c)

Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets include incremental and specific costs incurred and related to contracts in which
customers undertake to remain with the Company for a specified period of time, and which are amortised on a
straight-line basis over the specified period.

3.2. Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are recognised at cost of acquisition or production, less accumulated
depreciation and recognised accumulated impairment losses, where applicable.
The value of self-constructed assets is calculated taking into account direct and indirect costs attributable to
those assets.
Costs incurred to extend, modernise or improve property, plant and equipment are only recorded as an
increase in the value of the asset when the capacity, productivity or useful life of the asset is increased and it
is possible to ascertain or estimate the carrying amount of the assets that have been replaced in inventories.
The cost of major repairs is capitalised and depreciated over their estimated useful life, while recurring
maintenance costs are charged to the income statement during the year in which they are incurred.
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment, with the exception of land that is not depreciated, is
calculated systematically on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets based on the
actual decline in value due to operation and use.
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The estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment are as follows:
Buildings, technical installations and machinery
Public works
Fibre optic cables
Equipment

20-40
10-15
3-10

Other internal installations and technical facilities
Other installations, equipment and furniture
Information technology equipment
Motor vehicles

15-20
6-7
5-7
5

The majority of property, plant and equipment reflects investments to roll-out the Company's
telecommunications network throughout the Autonomous Region of the Basque Country.
The Company reviews the residual value and useful lives of the assets, as well as their classification as under
construction, and makes any necessary adjustments at each reporting date.
When an asset’s carrying amount exceeds its estimated recoverable amount, the carrying amount is written
down immediately to the recoverable amount.
Accounting profits or losses on the sale of property, plant and equipment are calculated as the difference
between the amount obtained on the sale, net of selling costs, and the carrying amount of the item sold, and
recognised in the income statement in the year the sale takes place.
Impairment losses or reversals of impairment losses, if the circumstances in which they were recognised no
longer exist, are recognised as an expense or income, respectively, in the income statement.

3.3. Interest costs
Finance costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or construction of assets which will not be
available for use for more than one year are included in the cost of the asset until it becomes available for use.

3.4. Impairment losses on non-financial assets
Non-financial assets are tested for impairment provided that an event or change in circumstances indicates
that their carrying amount might not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised when the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in
use. Impairment losses are reviewed when circumstances indicate that they should be reversed.
For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped together at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units).
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3.5. Financial assets
a)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market. The assets are recognised under current assets (unless they mature in more than
12 months after the reporting date, in which case they are booked as non-current assets) under loans to
companies and trade and other receivables.
These financial assets are initially carried at fair value, including directly attributable transaction costs, and
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, recognising accrued interest at the effective interest rate, which
is the discount rate that matches the instrument’s carrying amount to all estimated cash flows to maturity.
Nevertheless, trade receivables falling due in less than one year are carried at their face value at both initial
recognition and subsequent measurement, provided the effect of not updating is immaterial.
The impairment loss is calculated as the difference between the carrying amount of the asset and the present
value of the estimated future cash flows, discounted at the effective interest rate upon initial recognition.
Impairment losses are recognised and reversed in profit or loss. Amounts covered by the provision for
impairment are derecognised when their recovery is no longer expected by the Company.
b)

Investments in equity instruments of Group companies and associates

Investments in Group companies and associates are measured at cost net of any accumulated impairment
losses. If there is objective evidence that the carrying amount is not recoverable, the amount of the
impairment loss is measured as the difference between the carrying amount and the recoverable amount, the
latter of which is understood as the higher of the fair value less costs to sell and the present value of estimated
future cash flows from the investment. Impairment losses are recognised and reversed in profit or loss.
c)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset is derecognised from the balance sheet if all the risks and rewards of ownership are
substantially transferred. In the case of receivables, this is generally understood to be when insolvency and
default risks have been transferred.

3.6. Hedge accounting
Derivative financial instruments which qualify for hedge accounting are initially measured at fair value, plus
any transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition.
At the inception of the hedge the Company formally designates and documents the hedging relationships and
the objective and strategy for undertaking the hedges. Hedge accounting is only applicable when the hedge is
expected to be highly effective at the inception of the hedge and throughout the period for which the hedge
was designated. A hedge is considered to be highly effective if at inception and during its life, changes in fair
value or cash flows attributable to the hedged risk are prospectively expected to be offset almost entirely by
changes in the fair value or cash flows of the hedging instrument, and that, retrospectively, gains or losses on
the hedging transaction have been within the range of 80% and 125% with respect to those of the hedged item.
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The Company provisionally recognises the portion of the gain or loss on the measurement at fair value of a
hedging instrument that is determined to be an effective hedge in income and expense recognised in equity,
which is then transferred to the income statement in the year or years in which the hedge affects profit or
loss. Cash flows from the hedging instrument are recognised under the same income statement heading as the
hedged item. The ineffective portion of the hedge is recognised under change in fair value of financial
instruments.

3.7. Inventories
Inventories are initially measured at the lower of cost (whether cost of acquisition or production) and net
realisable value, and any related impairment losses or reversals are recognised in the income statement.
Cost is determined using the weighted average cost method. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

3.8. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and demand deposits in financial institutions and other shortterm, highly liquid investments with original maturity of less than three months.

3.9. Financial liabilities
All of the Company's financial liabilities are debts and payables.
Debts and payables include trade and non-trade payables. These liabilities are classified under current
liabilities unless they mature more than 12 months after the reporting date, in which case they are classified
under non-current liabilities.
Debts and payables are initially recognised at fair value, adjusted for directly attributable transaction costs,
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The effective interest rate
is the discount rate that matches the instrument’s carrying amount with the expected future flow of payments
to the maturity date of the liability.
Nevertheless, trade payables falling due in less than one year without a contractual interest rate are carried at
their face value on both initial recognition and subsequent measurement, provided the effect of not
discounting flows is not significant.

3.10. Current and deferred taxes
The income tax expense or tax income is recognised in the income statement each year, calculated based on
the pre-tax profits disclosed in the annual accounts, adjusted for permanent differences with fiscal criteria. If
the profit is associated with an income or expense recognised directly in equity, the tax expense or tax income
is also recognised against equity. Deferred tax assets and liabilities arising from temporary differences deriving
from the application of fiscal criteria in the recognition of income and expenses, are recognised in the balance
sheet until they are reversed.
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Deferred tax assets and unused tax credits in respect of loss carryforwards are only capitalised when their
future realisation is reasonably assured.
Similarly, income tax credits and deductions are recognised in the year they originate, with a credit to
valuations adjustments under equity, where they are applied to profit or loss in line with the depreciation of
the assets that gave rise to the deductions.
Tax credits in respect of all items, including loss carryforwards, are recognised at the tax rate prevailing at the
end of the year they are generated, adjusted, if modified, at the tax rate prevailing at the reporting date.

3.11. Share-based payment transactions
Services received in cash-settled share-based payment transactions which require compliance with a certain
period of tenure, are recognised in the income statement during that period. These services are initially
measured at fair value of the liability at the date the requirements for their recognition are met.
The liability is subsequently measured until settlement at its fair value at each year-end, and any changes in
value taking place during the year are taken to profit or loss. Therefore, changes in value that entail an
increase in the provision are recognised with a charge to personnel expenses, whereas the amount of the
revaluation adjustments is recorded under finance costs.

3.12. Provisions and contingent liabilities
Provisions for environmental rehabilitation, restructuring costs and litigation are recognised, where applicable,
when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event; it is probable
that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and a reliable estimate can be made of
the amount of the obligation.
Provisions maturing in over one year are measured at the present value of the estimated expenditure required
to settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money. Adjustments made to update the provision are recognised as a finance cost when accrued.
Provisions expiring in one year or less, the financial effect of which is immaterial, are not discounted.

3.13. Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised at the fair value of the consideration receivable and reflects the amounts to be
collected for goods handed over and services rendered in the ordinary course of the Company’s activities, less
returns, discounts and value added tax.
The Company recognises revenues on an accruals basis or as the ownership of the goods or services sold is
effectively transferred, when the amount can be measured reliably, it is probable that the future economic
benefits will flow to the Company and the specific terms are met for each type of revenue.
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In the case of prepaid mobile telephony, the amount of unused credit is recognised as an accrual until it is
consumed or, where applicable, ultimately cancelled. Free unused credit or free credit pending adjustment is
recognised as a prepayment.
Sales of merchandise mainly reflect user devices that are invoiced either directly to the end customer or the
distribution channel, as well as other goods sold to third parties.
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method.

3.14. Leases
a)

Finance leases

Leases of property, plant and equipment where the Company has substantially assumed all the risks and
rewards of ownership of leased assets are classified as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised at the
lease’s inception at the lower of the fair value of the leased property and the present value of the minimum
lease payments. Present value is calculated using the interest rate implicit in the lease agreement and, if this
rate cannot be determined, the interest rate applied by the Company in similar transactions.
Each lease payment is distributed between the liability and finance charges. The total finance charge is
apportioned over the lease term and taken to the income statement in the period of accrual, using the
effective interest method. Contingent rents are expensed in the year they are incurred. Lease obligations, net
of finance charges, are recognised in finance lease payables. Property, plant and equipment acquired under
finance leases are depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term.
b)

Operating leases

Leases in which the lessor retains substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership are classified
as operating leases. Operating lease payments (net of any incentive received from the lessor) are recognised in
profit or loss.

3.15. Foreign currency transactions
a)

Functional and presentation currency

Except where otherwise stated, the figures disclosed in the annual accounts are expressed in thousands of
Euros, the Company’s functional currency.
b)

Foreign currency transactions and balances

Transactions in foreign currency are translated at the foreign exchange rate prevailing at the date of the
transaction. Foreign currency gains and losses resulting from the settlement of transactions and translation at
year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency are recognised in
the income statement.
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3.16. Related party transactions
Transactions between Group companies are initially recognised at fair value. Transactions are subsequently
measured in accordance with applicable accounting standards.

3.17. Environment
Expenses derived from protecting and improving the environment are recognised as an expense in the period in
which they are incurred. Property, plant and equipment modified or acquired by the Company to minimise the
environmental impact of its activity and protect and improve the environment are recognised as an increase in
property, plant and equipment.

NOTE 4.- Financial Risk Management
4.1. Financial risk factors
The Company uses financial risk evaluation and mitigation methods suited to its activity and scope of
operations, which are sufficient for the adequate management of risks.
A summary of the main financial risks affecting the Company, as well as the measures in place to mitigate
these risks, is as follows:
a)

Credit risk

The Company considers customer credit risk to be mitigated by the application of different policies and
specific practices to this effect, and the high level of dispersion of receivables.
Among the different policies and specific practices implemented is the customer acceptance scoring policy, the
long-term monitoring of customer credit, which reduces the possibility of default of significant receivables,
and debt collection management.
Customers that occasionally owe substantial amounts are adequately covered by guarantees, whereas an
automatic offsetting clause is included in contracts with debtors that simultaneously have balances receivable
from the Company.
b)

Liquidity risk

The Company adjusts the maturities of its debts to its capacity to generate cash for settlement.
To do this, the Company implements three-year financing plans, which are reviewed annually, and analyses of
financial position every 15 days, which include long-term projections, together with a daily monitoring of bank
balances and transactions.
Therefore, although the Company's working capital, defined as the difference between current assets and
current liabilities (maturing in less than 12 months in both cases), is negative, it is mainly because of the
difference between the average collection period (37 days) and the average payment period (75 days), which is
normal for the Company's activity.
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c)

Market risk, currency risk and interest rate risk

The Company's ambit of operations barely exposes it to currency or price risks, which may arise from
occasional purchases in foreign currency of insignificant amounts.
The Company has also implemented different purchasing and contracting policies to encourage sales in its
ambit of operations, as well as different policies aimed at mitigating, insofar as possible, the concentration of
balances and transactions, and reducing the possibility of concentrating transactions in a limited number
agents.
The Company regularly revises its interest rate hedging policy. Under this policy, the need to contract interest
rate hedges is evaluated.
The Company settles interest on a monthly basis, which allows it to closely monitor the performance of
interest rates in the financial market.
As a result of the interest rate risk analysis performed in 2012 and 2013, the Company has entered into
Financial Operation Framework Contracts (interest-rate swaps) for 75% of the limit of loans signed in 2012 and
2013.

4.2. Fair value estimates
The fair value of financial instruments not traded on an active market, where applicable, is determined by
applying valuation models and techniques. The Company applies methods and makes assumptions based on
market conditions existing at each reporting date. Quoted market prices or agent quotations are used to
estimate long-term payables. To determine the fair value of the remaining financial instruments, the Company
uses other techniques such as estimated discounted cash flows.
The carrying amounts of trade receivables and payables are assumed to be similar to their fair values. For the
purposes of financial reporting, the fair value of financial liabilities is estimated by discounting contractual
future cash flows at the current market interest rate available to the Company for similar financial
instruments.
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NOTE 5.- Intangible Assets
Details of intangible assets and movement are as follows:
Industrial

Computer

Administrative

property

softw are

c onc essions

Other

Total

Balanc e at 01.01.12

81

43,705

2,666

905

47,357

Additions

10

2,802

8

-

2,820

Disposals

-

-

-

-

-

91

46,507

2,674

905

50,177

Additions

6

4,400

-

8,399

12,805

Disposals

-

-

-

(12,403)

(12,403)

Transfers

-

-

-

13,429

13,429

97

50,907

2,674

10,330

64,008

Balanc e at 01.01.12

(46)

(26,295)

-

(551)

(26,892)

Additions

(13)

(4,675)

-

(45)

(4,733)

GROSS AMOUNT

Balanc e at 31.12.12

Balanc e at 31.12.13
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION

Disposals

-

-

-

-

-

Balanc e at 31.12.12

(59)

(30,970)

-

(596)

(31,625)

Additions

(14)

(4,916)

-

(9,982)

(14,912)

Disposals

-

-

-

12,403

12,403

Transfers

-

-

-

(6,818)

(6,818)

(73)

(35,886)

-

(4,993)

(40,952)

Balanc e at 01.01.12

-

-

-

-

-

Additions

-

-

(2,674)

-

(2,674)

Balanc e at 31.12.12

-

-

(2,674)

-

(2,674)

Additions

-

-

-

-

-

Balanc e at 31.12.13
V ALOR NETO CONTABLE

-

-

(2,674)

-

(2,674)

Balanc e at 01.01.12

35

17,410

2,666

354

20,465

Balanc e at 31.12.12

32

15,537

-

309

15,878

Balanc e at 31.12.13

24

15,021

-

5,337

20,382

Balanc e at 31.12.13
PROV ISION FOR IMPAIRMENT

In 2012, the Company recognised impairment losses on administrative concessions of Euros 2.7 million, since
business trends in particular and the macroeconomic climate in general meant their capacity to generate
income was not reasonably ensured.
The cost of fully amortised intangible assets in use at 31 December 2013 totals Euros 23.7 million (Euros 19.4
million in 2012).
At 31 December 2013 and 2012 the Company has no significant intangible assets that are subject to restrictions
on title or pledged as security for liabilities.
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The Company has contracted sufficient insurance policies to cover the risk of damage to its intangible assets.
No borrowing costs were capitalised under intangible assets in 2013 or 2012.

NOTE 6.- Property, Plant and Equipment
Details of property, plant and equipment and movement are as follows:
Tec hnic al

Other

Under

Other

installations

installations,

c onstruc tion

property,

Land and

and

equipment

and

plant and

buildings

mac hinery

and furniture

advanc es

equipment

Total

Balanc e at 01.01.12

65,350

1,039,250

140,203

26,642

23,455

1,294,900

Additions

68,000

-

7

47,815

550

116,372

Disposals

-

-

-

-

-

-

GROSS AMOUNT

Transfers
Balanc e at 31.12.12
Additions

190

52,508

3,651

(57,386)

1,037

-

133,540

1,091,758

143,861

17,071

25,042

1,411,272

-

-

-

28,727

-

28,727

Disposals

-

-

-

-

-

-

Transfers

36

32,963

1,841

(35,383)

543

-

133,576

1,124,721

145,702

10,415

25,585

1,439,999

Balanc e at 01.01.12

(9,931)

(439,885)

(47,357)

-

(17,142)

(514,315)

Additions

(1,254)

(57,963)

(8,985)

-

(1,153)

(69,355)

(11,185)

(497,848)

(56,342)

-

(18,295)

(583,670)

(4,657)

(52,792)

(9,215)

(15,842)

(550,640)

(65,557)

Balanc e at 01.01.12

55,419

599,365

Balanc e at 31.12.12

122,355

Balanc e at 31.12.13

117,734

Balanc e at 31.12.13
ACCUMULATED
DEPRECIATION

Balanc e at 31.12.12
Additions
Balanc e at 31.12.13

(1,667)

(68,331)

-

(19,962)

(652,001)

92,846

26,642

6,313

780,585

593,910

87,519

17,071

6,747

827,602

574,081

80,145

10,415

5,623

787,998

CARRY ING
AMOUNT
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The Basque Government-Eusko Jaurlaritza, at a session held on 17 July 2012 and in compliance with the revised
Equity Law of Euskadi, approved by Decree Law 2/2007 of 6 November 2007, agreed to seek the Basque
Parliament's authorisation to transfer the excess telecommunications network and infrastructure owned by the
Basque regional government to the Company for a sale price of Euros 68,000 thousand, based on the appraisal
of an independent expert. This network, which mainly comprises underground channels, had been leased to the
Company since its incorporation, and represented a rental cost of approximately Euros 3.3 million in 2012.
On 13 August 2012, the Basque Parliament's Commission on Economy, Finance and Budget authorised this
transfer, after which, the corresponding order for divestiture was issued by the Minister of Economy and
Finance on 21 September 2012. The Company finally acquired the aforementioned telecommunications network
through a deed of sale and purchase signed by both parties on 20 December 2012. This purchase was paid in
full upon signing of the deed of sale and purchase, for which the Company increased its capital by Euros 54,413
thousand, with a share premium of Euros 13,587 thousand.
In 2013 the Company has capitalised Euros 147 thousand in finance costs (Euros 259 thousand in 2012) deriving
from external financing obtained to roll-out the network, calculated using a capitalisation rate of 3.35% in
2013, equivalent to the average effective cost of the external financing during the year.
In 2013 costs of Euros 2 million relating to network roll-out activities have been capitalised (Euros 3.4 million in
2012).
The cost of fully depreciated property, plant and equipment in use at at 31 December 2013 is Euros 221.6
million (Euros 202.1 million in 2012).
At 31 December 2013 and 2012 there are no items of property, plant and equipment pledged to secure
financial liabilities and sufficient insurance policies have been taken out to cover the risk of damage to
property, plant and equipment.
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NOTE 7.- Analysis of Financial Instruments
7.1. Analysis by category
At 31 December 2013 and 2012 the carrying amount of each of the categories of financial instruments
established in the recognition and measurement standard for financial instruments is as follows:
a)

Financial assets
Investments in
equity instruments
of Group
c ompanies, jointly
Loans and

Available-for-

c ontrolled entities

rec eivables

sale assets

and assoc iates

2013

2012

2013

8

11

-

-

24

24

32

35

-

-

-

-

24

24

24

24

8

11

-

-

-

-

8

11

Non-c urrent investments

2,296

267

855

855

-

-

3,151

1,122

Equity instruments
Loans to third parties
Hedging derivatives

1,941
92

-

855
-

855
-

-

-

855
1,941
92

855
-

263

267

-

-

-

-

263

267

781

-

-

-

-

-

781

-

781

-

-

-

-

-

781

-

Non-c urrent investments in
Group c ompanies and assoc iates
Equity instruments
Loans to Group companies
and associates

2012

2013

Total financ ial
assets

2012

2013

2012

Other financial assets
(Security deposits)
Trade and other
rec eivables, non-c urrent
Trade receivables
(exceeding o perating cycle)

Trade and
other rec eivables
Trade receivables
Personnel
Current investments in Group
c ompanies and assoc iates
Loans to Group companies
and associates
Other financial assets
Current investments
Loans to third parties
Other financial assets
Total financ ial assets
Trade and other rec eivables
Public entities, other
Total balanc es on balanc e sheet

39,388

40,720

-

-

-

- 39,388 40,720

39,327
61

40,659
61

-

-

-

- 39,327
61

171

3

-

-

-

-

171

3

91
80

3
-

-

-

-

-

91
80

3
-

40,659
61

20

49

-

-

-

-

20

49

20

39
10

-

-

-

-

20

39
10

42,664

41,050

855

855

24

7
7

4
4

-

-

-

42,671

41,054

855

855

24

24 43,543 41,929
-

7
7

4
4

24 43,550 41,933
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b)

Financial liabilities

Non-c urrent payables
Loans and borrowings
Derivatives
Other financial liabilities
Group c ompanies and assoc iates, non-c urrent
Current payables
Loans and borrowings
Other financial liabilities (suppliers of fixed assets)
Group c ompanies and assoc iates, c urrent
Loans and borrowings
Trade and other payables
Suppliers
Personnel
Total financ ial liabilities

2013

2012

119,387

108,776

115,587
893
2,907

108,706
70

104,416

175,795

98,550

112,100

84,295
14,255

91,125
20,975

22,682

35,005

22,682

35,005

53,554

50,888

46,734
6,820

49,025
1,863

398,589

482,564

Trade and other payables

7,915

6,860

Public entities, other

7,915

6,860

406,504

489,424

Total balanc es on balanc e sheet

7.2. Analysis by maturity
Details of non-current financial instruments with a fixed or determinable maturity classified by year of
maturity at 31 December 2013 are as follows:
a)

Financial assets
2015

2016

Loans to Group companies and associates

3

Derivatives

-

Loans to third parties
Total

b)

2018

Thereafter

Total

3

2

-

-

8

-

92

-

-

92

-

-

-

-

1,941

1,941

3

3

94

-

1,941

2,041

2015

2016

2017

2018

Thereafter

Total

31,074

40,415

44,098

-

-

115,587

4

9

9

9

2,876

2,907

17,745

12,037

30,045

30,045

14,544

104,416

-

143

427

215

108

893

48,823

52,604

74,579

30,269

17,528

223,803

Financial liabilities

Loans and borrowings
Other financial liabilities
Group companies and associates
Derivatives
Total

2017
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NOTE 8.- Non-current Investments in Group companies and Associates
During 2013 and 2012 there has been no significant movement in investments in Group companies and
associates, none of which are listed on the stock exchange.
The balance at 31 December 2013 and 2012 reflects the following:
2013

2012

Group

Gross amounts
Provisions for impairment
Total

Group

c ompanies

Assoc iates

Total

c ompanies

Assoc iates

24

540

564

24

500

Total
524

-

(540)

(540)

-

(500)

(500)

24

-

24

24

-

24

At 31 December 2013 and 2012 the Company is the Parent of a group of companies, comprising eight limited
liability subsidiaries (seven of which are dormant) and, in any case, with no material effect. At the date of
authorisation for issue of the accompanying annual accounts, the liquidation of six of these companies has been
filed at the Mercantile Registry, while the other two companies are in the process of being liquidated.
Investments in associates, none of which are listed on the stock exchange, represent a 25% direct interest in
Andornet, domiciled in Andorra and currently dormant, and a 20% direct interest in Hamaika Telebista,
domiciled in Bilbao and engaged in promoting the creation of local television stations that broadcast in the
Basque language (Euskera).
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NOTE 9.- Loans and Receivables
Non-current loans and receivables

2013

2012

3,085

278

8

11

Non-c urrent investments in Group c ompanies
and assoc iates
Loans to companies

8

11

475

478

(467)

(467)

Non-c urrent investments

2,296

267

Loans to third parties

1,941

-

1,954

480

(13)

(480)

92

-

263

267

Loans to associates
Provisions for impairment

Loans to third parties
Provisions for impairment
Derivatives
Other financial assets (security deposits)
Trade and other rec eivables
Trade receivables (exceeding operating cycle)

Current loans and receivables
Trade and other rec eivables
Trade receivables
Provisions for impairment
Personnel
Public entities, other

781

-

781

-

39,586

40,776

39,395

40,724

55,710

62,338

(16,383)

(21,679)

61

61

7

4

Current investments in
Group c ompanies and assoc iates

171

3

Loans to companies

91

3

Other financial assets

80

-

20

49

-

39

20

10

42,671

41,054

Current investments
Loans to third parties
Other financial assets (Deposits and guarantees)

Total

Non-current receivables earn variable interest pegged to Euribor.
The Company makes provision for impairment of trade and other receivables adding, to the total amount of
balances that have exceeded a minimum period determined in accordance with pertinent legislation applicable
to the sector, a percentage of past-due balances that do not exceed the aforementioned minimum period,
estimated using historical data on the recovery of Company balances, as it considers that the application of
this criterion represents a reasonable estimate of the impairment of the aforementioned financial assets.

23

2013 Annual Report

87

Movement in the provision for impairment of trade and other payables is as follows:
2013

2012

21,679

28,440

1,848

3,057

Bad debts written off

(7,144)

(9,818)

Closing balance

16,383

21,679

Opening balance
Provision for impairment of trade receivables

Impairment of trade receivables is recognised and reversed under losses, impairment and changes in trade
provisions under other operating expenses in the income statement, and totals Euros 2 million. In 2012 losses
totalled Euros 3 million and a provision of Euros 6.8 million was reversed.

NOTE 10.- Available-for-sale Financial Assets
At 31 December 2013 and 2012 available-for-sale financial assets amount to Euros 855 thousand and include
non-controlling interests in different companies measured at cost less impairment.

NOTE 11.- Inventories
Customer terminals and equipment
M obile phones

2013

2012

2,314

3,264

985

676

Digital television decoders

1,329

2,588

Contract materials

1,754

2,593

241

489

4,309

6,346

(2,107)

(2,520)

2,202

3,826

Other inventories
Total gross amount
Impairment losses on inventories
Total

The Company has contracted sufficient insurance coverage for the risk of damage to inventories.
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NOTE 12. Cash and Cash Equivalents
2013

2012

Cash

1,292

227

Cash equivalents

4,997

-

6,289

227

Total

At 31 December 2013 and 2012 the balances reflect the Company's cash and financial instruments convertible
to cash with a maturity of less than three months.

NOTE 13.- Equity
13.1. Capital
At 31 December 2013 and 31 December 2012 the subscribed capital of the Company is represented by
6,326,890 registered shares of Euros 60 par value each, with the same rights and obligations, subscribed and
fully paid. Article 9 of the Company's articles of association stipulates the regulation for the transfer of its
shares.
At 31 December 2013 and 2012 the companies which hold an interest in the share capital of the Company and
their percentage ownership, are as follows:
31.12.2013

Kutxabank, S.A.
CK Corporación Kutxa–Kutxa Korporazioa, S.L.

31.12.2012

Number of

Perc entage

Number of

Perc entage

shares

ow nership

shares

ow nership

2,710,065

42.83%

1,910,038

30.19%
12.64%

-

-

800,027

447,053

7.07%

447,053

7.07%

Grupo Kutxabank

3,157,118

49.90%

3,157,118

49.90%

International Cable, B.V.

3,043,234

48.10%

3,043,234

48.10%

126,538

2.00%

126,538

2.00%

6,326,890

100.00%

6,326,890

100.00%

Araba Gertu, S.A.

Iberdrola, S.A.

Total

Since 1 January 2012, as a result of the spin-off of the financial businesses of Bilbao Bizkaia Kutxa, Aurrezki
Kutxa eta Bahitetxea (BBK), Caja de Ahorros y Monte de Piedad de Gipuzkoa y San Sebastián – Gipuzkoa eta
Donostiako Aurrezki Kutxa (Kutxa) and Caja de Ahorros de Vitoria y Álava – Araba eta Gasteizko Aurrezki Kutxa
(Vital) to Kutxabank, S.A., the latter (Kutxabank) has assumed all obligations and all the rights and shares
comprising the equity of BBK, Kutxa and Vital.
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At a meeting held on 6 March 2012, the cabinet of the Basque Government-Eusko Jaurlaritza agreed to
authorise the addition of the investment held by the public entities Ente Vasco de la Energía and Euskal Irrati
Telebista Herri Erakundea in the share capital of Euskaltel, S.A. to the business asset portfolio of the General
Administration of the Autonomous Community of Euskadi. Consequently, as of that date, the shares held by
both companies became fully owned by the Basque Government-Eusko Jaurlaritza, with the General
Administration of the Autonomous Community of Euskadi assuming the legal relations, rights and obligations of
the aforementioned public entities with the Company.
In December 2012 the Company increased its share capital by Euros 54,413 thousand by issuing 906,890 shares
of Euros 60 par value each, with a share premium of Euros 13,587 thousand. After the shareholders renounced
their preferential right to subscription, International Cable, B.V. subscribed and fully paid the aforementioned
share capital increase with share premium.
In addition, International Cable, B.V. closed individual agreements for the sale-purchase of the Company's
shares with different shareholders, as a result of which, International Cable, B.V. held a 48.10% interest in the
Company at 31 December 2012.

13.2. Share premium
In accordance with prevailing legislation, the share premium is a freely-distributable reserve, provided that
equity exceeds share capital.

13.3. Reserves and prior years’ profit and loss
Details of this caption are as follows:
Legal reserve
Voluntary reserves
Prior years' losses
Total

2013

2012

27,524

22,714

65,437

65,437

(51,183)

(94,477)

41,778

(6,326)

The legal reserve has been appropriated in compliance with article 274 of the Spanish Companies Act, which
requires that companies transfer 10% of profits for the year to a legal reserve until this reserve reaches an
amount equal to 20% of share capital. Until the legal reserve exceeds the above limit, it may only be applied to
offset losses if no other reserves are available.

13.4. Profit for the year
The proposed distribution of 2013 profit and reserves of the Company to be submitted to the shareholders for
approval at their annual general meeting, and the approved distribution of 2012 profits, are as follows:
2013

2012

Profit for the year

50,092

48,104

Total

50,092

48,104

Basis of alloc ation

Distribution
Legal reserve

5,009

4,810

Offset of prior years' losses

45,083

43,294

Total

50,092

48,104
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13.5. Valuation adjustments
This heading primarily reflects income tax deductions in relation to investments in fixed assets, which, in
application of the principle of matching income and expenses, the Company takes to the income statement
based on the useful lives of the investments related to these deductions.
Movement has been as follows:
2013

2012

Opening balanc e

72,115

80,158

Limited deductions taken to the income statement

(7,798)

(8,043)

(577)

-

63,740

72,115

Hedging transactions
Closing balanc e

NOTE 14.- Share-based Payment Transactions
The Company has awarded certain incentives (the Plan) to members of the management committee, board
members and other key employees, which will entitle them to participate in any appreciation in the Company's
share value between 10 July 2013 and 31 December 2025, with the possibility of extending the vesting date by
another five years upon the request of the board of directors. Beneficiaries' participation in the Plan is
conditional on payment of certain amounts in respect of an initial price which may be partially financed
through the granting of loans that accrue the legal rate of interest. At 31 December 2013 the balance of the
liabilities related to the amounts paid by the beneficiaries of the Plan and the loans extended amounted to
Euros 2.8 million and Euros 1.9 million, respectively. The principal and interest on these loans fall due on 31
January 2026, unless the settlement event described in section b) below takes place.
The amount to be paid to the Plan beneficiaries is subject to them still being in the Company's employ when
the agreed amounts are paid, which will be quantified as follows:
a)

When the Plan vests, the beneficiaries will receive a percentage based on the underlying net book value
of the Company, adjusted for any dividends distributed, transaction costs and other items stipulated in
the agreements signed by the parties.

b)

If a settlement event takes place between the date the Plan was awarded and the date it vests, which
the Company's directors consider likely, the amount to be paid would be equivalent to the difference
between the percentage of fair value, adjusted for any changes to the price described in the preceding
section, and the initial price paid. For this purpose, a settlement event is understood to be the transfer
of shares by shareholders with more than a 5% interest that would represent over 50% of their interest in
the Company, provided that the cash consideration agreed were over 50% or the public offering of over
50% of traded shares.

If the business or labour relationship with the beneficiary were to terminate, the final price to be paid will be
reduced based on the agreed terms.
The directors of the Company consider that the settlement event will take place prior to the vesting of the
Plan, and therefore the conditions to determine its classification as cash-settled, share-based payments are
deemed to have been met.
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The fair value of the Plan at the award date was zero, considering the initial price paid and the amount paid to
the beneficiaries in respect of voluntary termination of their business or labour relationship. At 31 December
2013 the fair value of the Plan has not changed significantly and therefore the income statement does not
include any amount in this respect.
The value of the Company at year end has been calculated based on the value of the transaction carried out as
a result of the entry of new shareholders in December 2012, and of the performance of the key indicators in
2013.

NOTE 15.- Debts and Payables
Debts and payables, non-current
Non-c urrent payables
Loans and borrowings
Derivatives
Other financial liabilities
Group c ompanies and assoc iates, non-c urrent

Debts and payables, current
Current payables

2013

2012

223,803

284,571

119,387

108,776

115,587

108,706

893

-

2,907

70

104,416

175,795

182,701

204,853

98,550

112,100

Loans and borrowings

84,295

91,125

Other financial liabilities (suppliers of fixed assets)

14,255

20,975

22,682

35,005

Group c ompanies and assoc iates, c urrent
Trade and other payables
Suppliers

61,469

57,748

46,734

49,025

Personnel

6,820

1,863

Public entities, other

7,915

6,860

406,504

489,424

Total

The fair values of debts and payables do not differ significantly from their carrying amount. The fair value is
calculated based on cash flows discounted at a rate pegged to the effective interest rate for borrowings.
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15.1. Loans and borrowings
Details of bank loans at 31 December 2013 are as follows:
Bila te ra l
loa n 2 0 0 9

Bila te ra l
loa n 2 0 10

Loa n 2 0 12

Bila te ra l
loa n 2 0 13

Thousa nds
of Euros

9 banks,
including
Kutxabank

Banco
Santander

Banesto

Kutxabank

4 banks

-

25/07/2007

30/06/2009

30/09/2009

18/12/2009

19/12/2012

22/03/2013

-

120,000

150,000

130,000

4,000

5,000

130,500

69,500

-

15 years

8.5 years

5 years

5 years

5 years

8 years

4 years

-

5 years

6 years

2 years

2 years

2 years

5 years

3 years

-

Re pa yme nt

10 equal annual
instalments as of
15/12/2005

6 equal halfyearly
instalments
as of
25/07/2013

6 equal halfyearly
instalments as of
30/12/2011

6 equal halfyearly
instalments
as of
30/12/2011

6 equal half- 6 equal halfyearly
yearly
instalments
instalments
as of
as of
30/12/2011
30/12/2017

3 equal halfyearly
instalments
as of
30/12/2016

-

G ua ra nte e s

Guarantee
syndicated by 9
banks, including
Kutxabank

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

15/12/2014

25/01/2016

30/06/2014

30/06/2014

30/06/2014

30/06/2020

30/12/2017

-

Variable at each
repayment

Variable
pegged to
Euribor

Variable pegged
to Euribor

Variable
pegged to
Euribor

Variable
pegged to
Euribor

25%
variable
pegged to
Euribor and
75% at the
hedged rate
of 1.525%

25%
variable
pegged to
Euribor and
75% at the
hedged rate
of 1.051%

-

Ave ra ge inte re st 2 0 12

0.85%

2.93%

2.18%

2.14%

2.18%

n/a

n/a

-

Ave ra ge inte re st 2 0 13

0.34%

2.68%

1.90%

1.88%

1.90%

5.15%

5.15%

-

12 , 0 0 0

12 5 , 0 0 0

2 1, 6 6 7

666

833

79,667

69,500

309,333

12,000

50,000

21,667

666

833

-

-

85,166

-

75,000

-

-

-

79,667

69,500

224,167

EIB loa n 19 9 9

Loa n 2 0 0 7

Loa n 2 0 0 9

European
Investment Bank

5 banks,
including
Kutxabank

17/12/1999

Amount (in thousa nds of Euros)
Te rm

Entity

Contra c t da te

G ra c e pe riod

Ma turity da te
Inte re st ra te

O utsta nding princ ipa l due

Current
Non- current
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Details of bank loans at 31 December 2012 are as follows:
Bila te ra l
loa n 2 0 0 9

Bila te ra l
loa n 2 0 10

Loa n 2 0 12

Thousa nds
of Euros

9 banks,
including
Kutxabank

Banco
Santander

Banesto

Kutxabank

-

25/07/2007

30/06/2009

30/09/2009

18/12/2009

19/12/2012

-

120,000

150,000

130,000

4,000

5,000

130,000

-

15 years

8.5 years

5 years

5 years

5 years

8 years

-

5 years

6 years

2 years

2 years

2 years

4 years

-

Re pa yme nt

10 equal yearly
instalments as of
15/12/2005

6 equal halfyearly
instalments
as of
25/07/2013

6 equal halfyearly
instalments as of
30/12/2011

6 equal halfyearly
instalments
as of
30/12/2011

6 equal half- 8 half- yearly
yearly
instalments
instalments
as of
as of
30/12/2016
30/12/2011

-

G ua ra nte e s

Guarantee
syndicated by 9
banks, including
Kutxabank

-

-

-

-

-

-

15/12/2014

25/01/2016

30/06/2014

30/06/2014

30/06/2014

30/06/2020

-

Variable at each
payment

Variable
pegged to
Euribor

Variable pegged
to Euribor

Variable
pegged to
Euribor

Variable
pegged to
Euribor

Variable
pegged to
Euribor

-

Ave ra ge inte re st 2 0 11

1.45%

3.72%

2.95%

2.94%

2.94%

n/a

-

Ave ra ge inte re st 2 0 12

0.85%

2.93%

2.18%

2.14%

2.18%

n/a

-

24,000

15 0 , 0 0 0

65,000

2,000

2,500

13 0 , 0 0 0

373,500

EIB loa n 19 9 9

Loa n 2 0 0 7

Loa n 2 0 0 9

European
Investment Bank

5 banks,
including
Kutxabank

17/12/1999

Amount (in thousa nds of Euros)
Te rm

Entity

Contra c t da te

G ra c e pe riod

Ma turity da te
Inte re st ra te

O utsta nding princ ipa l due

Current

12,000

25,000

43,333

1,333

1,666

-

83,332

Non- current

12,000

125,000

21,667

667

834

130,000

290,168
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At 31 December 2013 loans and borrowings are as follows:
Current

Nominal amounts
Credit facilities and other borrowings

Non-c urrent

Group

Group

c ompanies

c ompanies

and

Other

and

Other

assoc iates

c ompanies

assoc iates

c ompanies

Total

23,333

61,833

107,167

117,000

309,333

(21)

23,286

-

-

23,265

(630)

(824)

(2,751)

(1,413)

(5,618)

-

-

562

331

893

22,682

84,295

104,978

115,918

327,873

Loan arrangement costs to
be expensed
Cash flow hedges
Total

Details of loans and borrowings at 31 December 2012 are as follows:
Current

Non-c urrent

Group

Group

c ompanies

c ompanies

and

Other

and

Other

assoc iates

c ompanies

assoc iates

c ompanies

Total

Nominal amounts

19,166

64,166

180,834

109,334

373,500

Credit facilities and other borrowings

11,266

27,529

-

-

38,795

5,500

-

-

-

5,500

(927)

(570)

(5,039)

(628)

(7,164)

35,005

91,125

175,795

108,706

410,631

Loan arrangement costs payable
Loan arrangement costs to
be expensed
Total

On 19 December 2012 the Company signed a Euros 200 million loan contract with Kutxabank, which was broken
down in two tranches as follows:
Tranche A, of Euros 125 million, for the repayment of a short-term loan obtained in 2012 to cover cash
requirements deriving from the resolution of the lawsuit involving France Telecom. The full amount of
this loan has been drawn down since 31 December 2012.
Tranche B, with a limit of Euros 75 million. A drawdown schedule for this amount has been set until
2016, based on repayments corresponding to Kutxabank's share of the 2007 and 2009 loans. Euros 24.2
million has been drawn down on this tranche at 31 December 2013 (Euros 5 million at 31 December
2012).
The combined repayment of tranches A and B will be made in six half-yearly instalments starting in December
2016.
On 22 March 2013, the Company signed a non-extinguishing novation addendum to the aforementioned contract
entered into with Kutxabank on 19 December 2012, which modifies certain terms of the aforementioned
contract, particularly those referring to the loan principal (down from Euros 200 million to Euros 130.5 million
by reducing tranche A by Euros 69.5 million) and, consequently, the repayment schedule, according to which,
the loan will be repaid in six half-yearly instalments starting in December 2017, the first of which amounts to
Euros 5.5 million and the remaining instalments, Euros 25 million.
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The interest rate is pegged to Euribor plus a market spread payable in half-yearly instalments at the end of
each period due.
In conjunction with this addendum, on 22 March 2013 the Company signed four long-term bilateral loans for a
total of Euros 69.5 million with the following entities: Banco Sabadell (Euros 25 million), Caixabank (Euros 25
million), Caja Laboral (Euros 12 million) and Bankoa (Euros 7.5 million). These bilateral loans will be repaid in
three half-yearly instalments starting in December 2016. These loans and the aforementioned long-term credit
facility signed on 19 December 2012 share the same terms and conditions.
In relation and proportion to these contracts, in 2013 the Company contracted interest rate swaps on 75% of
the loan limits, over the terms of the loans, at a cost in terms of margin of 25 basis points.
Details of cash flow hedges at 31 December 2013 and 2012, comprising interest rate swaps, are as follows:
Fair values
2013

2012

Notional
Contract date

Maturity date

amount

Asset

Liability

Asset

Liability

30/06/2013

30/06/2020

97,875

-

(562)

-

-

22/03/2013

29/12/2017

37,500

-

(331)

-

-

22/03/2013

29/12/2017

14,625

92

-

-

-

150,000

92

(893)

-

-

The fair value of financial swaps is based on the market values of equivalent derivative financial instruments at
the reporting date. All interest rate swaps are effective as cash flow hedges.
This contract also provides that any surplus cash, generated during the term of the loan and calculated in
accordance with the terms of the aforementioned contract, be used to settle the amount drawn down on the
credit facility.
The Company's credit facilities have a total limit of Euros 110 million at 31 December 2013 (Euros 117 million in
2012), of which Euros 87 million remains undrawn at that date (Euros 78 million in 2012). This limit includes a
Euros 80 million current account credit facility, which falls due on 30 December 2018, to ensure the Company
working capital requirements, obtained from Kutxabank on 19 December 2012.

15.2. Suppliers
At 31 December 2013 debts and payables in foreign currency, in this case the US Dollar, amount to Euros 213
thousand (Euros 146 thousand in 2012).
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Details of payments for commercial transactions made in 2013 and 2012 in relation to the maximum legal
period set out in Law 15/2010 of 5 July 2010 are as follows:
31.12.2013

31.12.2012

Thousands

Within the maximum legal period
Other
Total payments for the year
Weighted average late payment days

Thousands

of Euros

%

of Euros

%

208,283

92.2%

419,938

98.3%

17,618

7.8%

7,349

1.7%

225,901

100%

427,287

100.0%

21

26

At 31 December 2013 the outstanding balance payable to suppliers which exceeded the maximum legal period
amounted to Euros 2,650 thousand (Euros 9 thousand in 2012). At the date these annual accounts were
authorised for issue, the Company had settled this amount.
The maximum legal period stipulated by Law 15/2010 of 5 July 2010 is 60 days for 2013 and 75 days for 2012.

NOTE 16.- Taxation
16.1. Income Tax and Taxation
A reconciliation of net income and expenses for 2013 with the taxable income is as follows:
Increases

Decreases

211
453

(435)

Profit before tax
Permanent differences
Temporary differences

Total
57,366

Taxable income

211
18
57,595

A reconciliation of net income and expenses for 2012 with the taxable income is as follows:
Increases

Decreases

Profit before tax

Total
53,345

Permanent differences

22

-

22

Temporary differences

475

(6,772)

(6,297)

Taxable income

47,070

Temporary differences originate mainly from differences in the accrual of expenses between the tax and
accounting treatments of provisions for impairment of receivables.
The accrued income tax expense is the result of applying the prevailing tax rate of 28% to the sum of pre-tax
profits and the amount of permanent differences originating during the year.
In 2013 the Company has capitalised loss carryforwards of Euros 40.3 million (Euros 32.9 million in 2012). At 31
December 2013, unused loss carryforwards, incurred in 2011, amount to Euros 75,688 thousand (Euros 114,052
thousand in 2012).
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2013

2012

16,122

14,943

Unlimited deductions for the year

(691)

(963)

Unlimited deductions from prior years

(381)

(695)

22

(1)

(7,798)

(8,043)

7,274

5,241

Accrued income tax expense

Other adjustments
Amount of deductions taken to profit for the year

Total income tax

In 2013 the Company has applied limited income tax deductions of Euros 1.7 million (Euros 3.9 million in 2012).
At 31 December 2013 the Company has unused limited and unlimited income tax deductions for investments
and other items as follows:

Year of origin

2013

2012

1999

2,184

4,072

2000

17,265

17,265

2001

23,002

23,002

2002

10,399

10,399

2003

17,310

17,310

2004

16,388

16,388
12,512

2005

12,512

2006

9,927

9,927

2007

12,760

12,760

2008

13,920

13,920

2009

773

773

2010

949

949

2011

1,063

1,063

2012

832

-

Total

139,284

140,340

Euros 137.4 million of the aforementioned deductions have been capitalised at 31 December 2013 (Euros 139.3
million in 2012). Capitalisation is based on the Company's annual recoverability analyses, considering estimated
future tax profits and the accounting (not tax) recovery limit of 10 years.
Under local legislation, tax credits in respect of loss carryforwards and deductions generated prior to 2013 do
not expire.
The Company has open to inspection all main applicable taxes for the years still open to inspection.
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16.2. Deferred tax
Details of deferred taxes, which are all deferred tax assets, and movement are as follows:
Assets

Liabilities

Temporary

Tax c redits for loss

Tax

Temporary

Total deferred

differenc es

c arryforw ards

deduc tions

differenc es

taxes

3,567

41,160

141,572

-

186,299

(1,763)

(9,226)

(3,954)

-

(14,943)

year

-

-

695

-

695

Unlimited deductions for the year

-

-

963

-

963

1,804

31,934

139,276

-

173,014

5

(11,288)

(2,374)

-

(13,657)

250

-

-

(26)

224

-

-

691

-

691

18

548

(205)

-

361

2,077

21,194

137,388

(26)

160,633

Balanc e at 01.01.12
Application of accrued income tax
expense
Unlimited deductions from the prior

Balanc e at 31.12.12
Application of accrued income tax
expense
Hedging financial assets
Unlimited deductions for the year
Other adjustments
Balanc e at 31.12.13
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NOTE 17.- Income and Expenses
17.1. Foreign currency transactions
Transactions carried out in foreign currency, particularly the US Dollar, amount to Euros 1,483 thousand (Euros
1,287 thousand in 2012) and mainly reflect acquisitions of equipment for users and television content services.

17.2. Revenues
Revenues total Euros 329,148 thousand, all generated in the domestic market, distributed as follows (Euros
338,542 thousand in 2012):

2013

2012

Fixed-line network (voice and data)

63.12%

63.80%

M obile network

18.55%

18.70%

Television

5.89%

5.50%

Wholesale market

2.52%

2.70%

Other

9.92%

9.30%

100.00%

100.00%

2013

2012

Business

30.64%

30.37%

Residential

57.88%

58.32%

Other

11.48%

11.31%

100.00%

100.00%

Total

Details by segment are as follows:

Total
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17.3. Supplies

Merchandise used
Purchases

2013

2012

19,218

23,064

17,181

21,071

2,037

1,993

Change in inventories
Subcontracted work

54,213

54,216

Interconnection costs

42,690

41,589

Other supplies

11,523

12,627

(413)

(364)

73,018

76,916

Impairment of merchandise
Total

17.4. Personnel expenses
Salaries and wages

2013

2012

27,885

25,737

6,494

5,971

34,379

31,708

Other employee benefits expense
Total

The average headcount, distributed by category, is as follows:

Directors
M anagers

2013

2012

32

30

45

45

Other professionals

470

473

Total

547

548

The gender distribution of Company personnel at year end is as follows:
2013
Male

2012

Female

Total

Male

Female

Total

Directors

30

4

34

27

3

30

M anagers

31

14

45

31

14

45

Other professionals

272

195

467

276

197

473

Total

333

213

546

334

214

548

At the date the annual accounts were authorised for issue, the Company's board of directors is represented by
six men and 2 women.
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17.5. Other operating expenses

External services

2013

2012

67,300

92,364

Taxes

3,213

4,098

Losses, impairment and changes in trade provisions

1,848

3,057

72,361

99,519

Total

17.6. Impairment and gains/(losses) on disposal of fixed assets
2013

2012

Impairment and losses

-

(1,801)

Total

-

(1,801)

2013

2012

224

132

17.7. Net finance cost/income

Finance income
Investments in equity instruments of third parties

129

-

7

13

88

119

(16,133)

(12,424)

Group companies and associates

(7,684)

(6,225)

Third parties

(8,449)

(6,199)

10

4

(40)

(437)

(15,939)

(12,725)

M arketable securities and other financial instruments of third parties
M arketable securities and other financial instruments of Group companies
and associates
Finance costs

Exchange gains
Impairment and losses on disposal of financial instruments
Total
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NOTE 18.- Commitments
18.1. Sale/purchase commitments
At the reporting date, the Company has signed sale-purchase contracts for the following items and amounts, all
of which are related to current operations:
2013
Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
Inventories
Total

2012

275

740

3,541

7,799

407

2,330

4,223

10,869

The Company has no firm commitments to sell assets.

18.2. Operating lease commitments
The Company mainly rents locations for its node equipment under operating leases. These contracts have a
term of between 10 and 30 years, most of which are renewable upon maturity under market conditions.
Future minimum payments under operating leases are as follows:

Less than 1 year
1-5 years
Over 5 years
Total

2013

2012

2,265
10,202
17,528

3,422
12,322
24,023

29,995

39,767

Operating lease instalments of Euros 4,411 thousand have been recognised as an expense for the year (Euros
8,287 thousand in 2012).
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NOTE 19.- Other Information
The members of the board of directors of the Company accrued no remuneration from profit sharing or
bonuses. Neither did the directors receive any share options in 2013, exercise options or have any options to
exercise.
The Company has no pension or life insurance obligations with the board members.
In 2013 the members of the board of directors received a gross of Euros 0.5 million in respect of all items
(Euros 0.6 million in 2012). The directors have also received Euros 0.7 million in repayable loans.
In accordance with article 229 of the Spanish Companies Act, none of the directors is in direct or indirect
conflict of interest with the Company.
According to information provided by members of the board in 2013 or at the date the annual accounts were
authorised for issue, Mr. Richard David Alden is a shareholder of the Blue Interactive Group and no director has
carried out on his own account or on behalf of others any activity identical, similar or complementary to that
of the Company, except Mr. Richard David Alden (Chief Executive Officer of Wananchi Group Holdings, Nonexecutive chairman of the Blue Interactive Group and Director of CTN Limited).
The Company has no pension or life insurance commitments with its management personnel. The gross
remuneration received by management personnel who are also members of the board of directors at the date
the Company's annual accounts were authorised for issue, is Euros 4.9 million in respect of all items (Euros 3.5
million in 2012) and they have received Euros 1.3 million in repayable loans.
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NOTE 20.- Other Related-Party Transactions
Transactions carried out with related parties, at market values and under market terms, are as follows:

20.1. Sale of goods and services rendered
No services have been rendered to related parties in 2013 and 2012, except those rendered to Kutxabank,
amounting to Euros 7,186 thousand (Euros 6,496 thousand in 2012), and Caja Sur, for Euros 2,807 thousand
(Euros 420 thousand in 2012), in which the prevailing price lists for unrelated parties have been applied.

20.2. Purchase of goods and services received
No significant services have been received from related parties during 2013 and 2012.

20.3. Finance costs
2013

2012

7,684

6,229

7,684

6,229

2013

2012

Kutxabank Group

-

119

Total

-

119

Kutxabank Group
Total

20.4. Finance income

20.5. Other transactions
On 20 December 2012 the Company acquired from the Basque Government-Eusko Jaurlaritza, which until that
date held 7.45% of the share capital, a telecommunications network, mainly comprising underground channels,
for Euros 68,000 thousand. This price was determined based on the appraisal of an independent expert
included in the request for authorisation to transfer the network submitted by the Basque Government-Eusko
Jaurlaritza to the Basque Parliament. Authorisation was granted by the Basque Parliament's Commission on the
Economy, Finance and Budget on 13 August 2012.
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20.6. Related party balances
Balances payable to Group companies and associates are as follows:
2013

2012
Non-

Kutxabank Group
Total

Current

current

Current

Non-current

22,682

104,978

35,005

175,795

22,682

104,978

35,005

175,795

Accounts payable to related parties mainly comprise loans and borrowings. The Company has recognised in
current accounts and cash equivalents an amount of Euros 5.7 million receivable from the Kutxabank Group,
which earns interest at market rates.

NOTE 21.- Environmental Information
The Company takes into account relevant environmental legislation when conducting its global operations. The
Company has also undertaken to comply with environmental legislation, which is verified through accredited
external entities, and has procedures in place to promote and ensure compliance. The Company considers the
environmental impact of its products and services right from the design stage, and seeks to minimise this
impact through efficient and effective ways of promoting responsible use.
Since 1999 the Company has had an Environmental Management System which complies with European
Regulation 1221/2009 (EMAS III) and the UNE-EN ISO 14001:2004 standard. As a result of this commitment to
excellence in environmental management, the Company has had its Environmental Impact Declaration for 2012
validated by a renowned independent party, in accordance with EMAS regulation.
As a result of its policy on Quality, Environment and Safety in the Workplace, the Company regularly
participates in environment-related forums and initiatives and collaborates actively with its suppliers and
clients in reducing, recycling and reusing possible waste products generated by its activities, and makes the
pertinent declarations of packing and packaging materials, electrical and electronic equipment and cells and
batteries released in the market. The Company has also signed up to the Eco-efficiency of Basque businesses
Programme for 2010-2014 promoted by the Basque Government-Eusko Jaurlaritza, the main goal of which is to
make Basque businesses more sustainable, innovative and efficient, by introducing environmentally-friendly
practices in their processes.
The Company's Corporate Social Responsibility master plan for 2011-2013 includes, among other lines of action,
the strategy and programmes and initiatives to be implemented and developed for managing environmental
impact, in line with the Basque Environmental Strategy for Sustainable Development and the Framework
Environmental Programme of the Autonomous Community of the Basque Country.
As part of the STOP CO2 Euskadi initiative against climate change launched in the Basque Country, in which the
Company has been involved since 2009 as an “Asociado Plus” member, it prepared and implemented a
greenhouse gas reduction plan in 2012. The Company has also extended this commitment by calculating its
carbon footprint based on ISO 14064 guidelines and preparing the greenhouse gas emissions report for 2012. In
2013, the Company embarked upon a responsible innovation project to calculate the carbon footprint and
analyse the life cycle of its flagship product, OSOA, which integrates all of Euskaltel's services into a single
package.
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NOTE 22.- Guarantees
The Company has extended guarantees totalling Euros 38.6 million (Euros 41.3 million in 2012), in addition to
the guarantees extended to public entities for financing contracts signed as a result of legal obligations
deriving from its participation in the development of the telecommunications business and for the licences to
roll-out the networks.

NOTE 23.- Audit Fees
During 2013 KPMG Auditores, S.L. has accrued Euros 53.7 thousand in fees for the audit of the accounts
(PricewaterhouseCoopers Auditores, S.L. accrued Euros 78 thousand in 2012), as well as Euros 4 thousand for
other assurance services (Euros 239 thousand accrued by PricewaterhouseCoopers Auditores, S.L. member firms
in 2012).
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Introduction
Although there are signs of a better socio-economic outlook, 2013 was still generally similar to recent years,
due to the continued drop in demand and cost-cutting initiatives in all sectors, particularly in the sector where
Euskaltel, S.A. operates together with large multinational competitors, i.e., the telecommunications sector. In
addition, and particularly in 2013 major operators have been pushing prices down, by clearly promoting
convergent products.
In this converging environment, Euskaltel has been able to compete and successfully rise to the challenge, as it
has an exceptional technological infrastructure, has been adequately prepared for convergence for a number of
years, and has an equally exceptional knowledge of its potential, its products in the market and its customers.
Although it has been unable to avoid the effect of the drop in market prices, the economic variables of
Euskaltel have performed better than those of its environment and sector, thanks to its customers and its
proven capacity to generate the efficiencies required by its customers when being billed.
Together with convergence and efficiency, broadband market customers are now demanding more ultra highspeed capacities, partly because the simultaneous use of diverse and increasingly sophisticated devices is
becoming more commonplace. Mobile phone customers meanwhile are now increasingly requiring SIM Only
products, where low tariffs are justified by the absence of low-cost terminals, which in turn has driven up sales
of unlocked phones, also available under financing schemes.

Business performance of Euskaltel in 2013
Customers/Products
With respect to fixed-line telecommunications services, Euskaltel has 385,608 direct access lines at the 2013
close, which represent a 0.2% growth in a market that has been sliding progressively in the last five years (1.5% in 2013) and an improvement in the composition of the lines portfolio, with direct access lines
representing 98.5% of total fixed telecommunication lines compared to 98% in the prior year. Broadband lines
contracted with Euskaltel totalled 259,987 lines at the end of 2013, representing year-on-year growth of 4.1%.
As for Euskaltel’s Digital Television service, at 31 December 2013 there were 62,274 value products, reflecting
a 13% rise and maintaining a penetration of over 40% with respect to direct access customers.
Consequently, Euskaltel remains the primary alternative operator in terms of market share of fixed-line
telecommunications customers in the Basque Country, with levels of penetration in the different businesses
higher in net terms than those of the leading, alternative, own network operator in the country. In fixed
telephony Euskaltel is co-leader in the market, with a 47% share in the Basque Country where it has its own
network. As for broadband services, Euskaltel is the leading operator in the Basque market, with a 43% market
share. In Digital Television, Euskaltel is the leading operator in the market with a share of almost 60%.
In mobile telecommunications, Euskaltel ended 2013 with 362,292 active mobile phone lines, reflecting a net
increase of 32% in value customers (contract customers), in a year in which once again the number of active
lines of established operators nationwide has continued to drop in favour of VMOs. However, Euskaltel has
made great strides, increasing its market share by over 3 percentage points to 18% of contract lines.

1

2013 Annual Report

109

Revenue, profits and cash flow
In 2013 market revenue has once again dropped with respect to the prior year. In the case of Euskaltel’s
activities, the year-on-year variation of revenues, by quarter, is as follows: -4.3% in the first quarter,-6.3% in
the second quarter and -9.2% in the third quarter. However, Euskaltel has generated operating income of
Euros 324 million, reflecting a variation of -2.8%. Another aspect that differentiates Euskaltel from other
private operators is that it has maintained its high penetration in the business sector, with revenue from this
sector representing 31.3% of total operating income.
Net profits for the year amount to Euros 50,092 thousand, up 4.1 % on the previous year. Euskaltel also ended
2013 with a positive free cash flow of Euros 86.1 million, all of it business-derived.

Other relevant issues
Euskaltel has faced the challenges of 2013 with a number of specific measures. 2013 saw the launch of its
combined product, OSOA, which in the space of 11 months was contracted by 50,000 homes (out of the 220,000
homes with Euskaltel's fibre optic internet lines), a product which promotes the convergence and flexible
bundling of Euskaltel’s products (broadband, television, mobile, fixed-line) providing customers with the best
prices for internet connections. Euskaltel has also increased broadband capacity for its customers, optimising
technological resources and demonstrating that speed is no obstacle to the fibre optic network already rolledout by Euskaltel. Customers have also welcomed the possibility of buying mobile phones on an instalment
basis, which significantly increased sales in this respect and has complemented the sales of the rest of the
mobile phone products, including both SIMPLE tariffs (SIM only) and bundled broadband services.
To give its offers the efficiency sought by customers, Euskaltel is also transforming its marketing and customer
communication processes by promoting on-line channels, which facilitate communication with the customer
and enhance new forms of communication offered by new technologies.
As it searches for the best long-term technological solutions for its customers, Euskaltel has reached a new
mobile and data network sharing agreement whereby Orange will become Euskaltel’s wholesale access services
provider for the next five years, beginning 1 January 2014.

Conclusions
Euskaltel ranks seventh overall in terms of fixed-line telecommunications revenue (the result of being fifth in
fixed-line telephony, sixth in Internet services and sixth in pay-per-view television subscribers) and ninth in
mobile telecommunications revenue, which combined puts it in eighth place in terms of total revenue per
operator. Business trends in the Basque market are comparable with overall trends seen in Spain with respect
to the reduction in revenue from both fixed-line and mobile phone services, including broadband, which until
now had been the sector’s driver.

2

110

2013 Annual Report

At the 2013 close, Euskaltel is the second leading cable operator in Spain, the sixth own fixed-line network
operator in terms of customers, the seventh in fixed-line telephony revenue, the ninth operator in Spain in
terms of mobile telephony revenue, sixth in Internet revenue, sixth in number of pay-per-view television
subscribers, and the eighth operator in the country in total revenue. Euskaltel is the leading broadband
operator in the Basque Country, with a market share of 43%, as well as in the digital television market, with a
share of around 60%. Euskaltel is co-leader in the fixed-line telephony market, where it has its own network
and 47% of active lines. In terms of mobile telephone contracts, Euskaltel has a share of 18%, and is very close
to becoming the second leading mobile operator in the Basque Country.
Euskaltel is also the leading alternative operator in the country in terms of share in the fixed
telecommunication market in its area of operation, with levels of penetration in the different businesses
clearly higher than the leading alternative operator in the rest of the country. In fixed telephony, Euskaltel has
a market share of almost 40% in the Basque Country, compared with the 11% share of the leading alternative
operator in the rest of Spain. In broadband, Euskaltel has a penetration of 43% in the Basque Country,
compared to the 12.9% share of the leading alternative operator in the rest of Spain. In digital television,
Euskaltel has a market share of almost 60% in the Basque Country, compared with the 22% share of the leading
alternative operator in Spain.
As for 2014, the projects under way, which have and are yielding results, together with those planned for
2014, particularly in television, in repositioning broadband speeds and in the migration of the wholesale mobile
phone access service provider, are expected to overcome the uncertainties of the market with the success
achieved so far.

Derio, 31 March 2014
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